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         1       MR AGIUS:   Commissioner, we understand that there is to be

         2       some examination of Mr Moffet on behalf of Mr Lindberg,

         3

         4       <CHRISTOPHER DUNCAN MOFFET, on former oath:       [10.10am]

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   You're on your former oath, Mr Moffet.

         7

         8       THE WITNESS:   Good morning, Mr Cole, good morning,

         9       Mr Agius.

        10

        11       <EXAMINATION BY MR ALLEN:

        12

        13       MR ALLEN:   Q.   Good morning, Mr Moffet.  I appear for

        14       Andrew Lindberg.  Mr Moffet, there are just a couple of

        15       matters to ask you about this morning.  The first concerns

        16       paragraph 28 of your statement, WST.0020.0003, exhibit 119.

        17       A.   Paragraph 28, did you say?

        18

        19       Q.   Yes.  Have you got it there?

        20       A.   Yes, I have.

        21

        22       Q.   I,  for one, was a bit confused about what your

        23       evidence is about the contents of this statement, after

        24       some confusing interchanges, as I found them to be, anyway,

        25       between you and counsel assisting yesterday.  So I just

        26       want to clarify the situation.  As I understand what's set

        27       out in your statement, what you might have been trying to

        28       say yesterday was that you were informed that the contracts

        29       with the IGB included the cost of inland trucking from as

        30       early as 1999; is that right?

        31       A.   And perhaps before, yes.

        32

        33       Q.   And perhaps before.  As I understood the gist of your

        34       evidence, from the very first board meeting that you

        35       attended, which you thought was in early 1999, you were

        36       seized of that knowledge, that the costs of inland trucking

        37       were included in the contracts with the IGB; is that

        38       correct?

        39       A.   Yes, in early '99, when I first joined the company, I

        40       made it my point to peruse as much as possible of how the

        41       company operated.

        42

        43       Q.   And it's because you say you made a point of

        44       discovering as much as you could about how the company

        45       operated that you're confident that it was in early 1999,

        46       when you first joined the company, that you became aware of

        47       that fact?
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         1       A.   It depends how you define early '99, but early '99

         2       would be prior to July, in a broad spectrum.  We are going

         3       back eight years now.

         4

         5       Q.   You said yesterday - I think you said again this

         6       morning - it could have been late '98?

         7       A.   Forgive me, but you are not clear in your voice to me.

         8       I can't hear you properly.

         9

        10       Q.   Sorry about that.  I thought you said yesterday, and

        11       again this morning, that it may have been as early as 1998,

        12       but certainly early 1999, when you first became aware that

        13       the cost of inland trucking was included in the IGB

        14       contracts.  Is that what you previously said?

        15       A.   It wasn't '98, because we hadn't had any board

        16       meetings of any substance by then.  I was elected at the

        17       end of '98, but my term really began in '99.

        18

        19       Q.   When?

        20       A.   My term really began in '99, although I was elected in

        21       September, I think it was, of 1998.

        22

        23       Q.   When did you first start attending board meetings?

        24       A.   I think it was November of '98.  Really you'd need to

        25       refresh my memory.  There was a transitional period.

        26

        27       Q.   When did you first start going about this process of

        28       discovering what you could about the way the company

        29       operated?

        30       A.   By inquiry, when the three of us joined the board at

        31       the time - that's Mr Simpson, Mr McClelland and myself - we

        32       had a briefing session with the then chairman, Mr Flugge.

        33       There were introductions to certain officers of the

        34       company, an explanation of certain processes to us.  I

        35       think I recall the familiarisation process.

        36

        37       Q.   To the best of your recollection, when were you first

        38       aware that the costs of inland trucking were included in

        39       the IGB contracts?

        40       A.   I believe it was in early '99, prior to July.  I stand

        41       corrected if you have something that disapproves that.

        42

        43       Q.   Unless I have something that disapproves it, that's

        44       your confident recollection?

        45       A.   Yes, it is.  Whenever I joined the International

        46       board, AWBI, I made it my point to follow up on some things

        47       at the time so I had a working knowledge of how things
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         1       operated, but if you have something to correct me, then

         2       please do so.

         3

         4       Q.   I want to move on to a different topic, the topic of

         5       what was described in a leading question to you yesterday

         6       as a "potent" admission made by Mr Lindberg, which you took

         7       up and ran with and described as "explosive".  You said

         8       yesterday that this so-called explosive admission was made

         9       at an unscheduled meeting, didn't you?

        10       A.   When I say unscheduled, I'm sorry, I haven't learnt

        11       your name --

        12

        13       Q.   Allen.

        14       A.   -- but it was unscheduled in terms of January meetings

        15       are not normally held.  It was scheduled as in we were

        16       informed that it was going to be held, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Let's remind you of what you said on your oath

        19       yesterday.  You see, it was in the context of Mr Agius'

        20       description of the potent admission and yours of the

        21       explosive admission that Mr Agius then asked you the

        22       obvious question, "Who asked Mr Lindberg any questions

        23       about this?"  Your explanation as to why no-one seemed to

        24       get inquisitive about it was that it was a rather short

        25       meeting, it wasn't a scheduled meeting, nobody asked.  Do

        26       you remember saying that yesterday?

        27       A.   Yes, I do remember saying that yesterday.

        28

        29       Q.   Yes.  Well, was the meeting scheduled or not?

        30       A.   Yes, it was scheduled, as in we were informed of it

        31       with several days notice.

        32

        33       Q.   Several days notice.  Are you sure about that?

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   The board does not regularly meet

        36       in January, is that right?

        37       A.   I'm sorry?

        38

        39       Q.   The board does not regularly meet in January?

        40       A.   No, we don't regularly meet in January, Mr Cole.

        41

        42       MR ALLEN:   Q.   Are you sure you had a few days notice?

        43       A.   Well, for me - normally I'm very lucky if I even get

        44       the board paper for a meeting in time for the board, so to

        45       me short notice is a general thing.

        46

        47       Q.   How much notice did you have of this meeting, as far
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         1       as your recollection is concerned?

         2       A.   Enough notice to get booked on a plane and get over

         3       there, I guess.  I really have no idea.  Had you asked me

         4       that question yesterday, I could have checked some records

         5       for you.

         6

         7       Q.   Well, you were asked yesterday.  You volunteered

         8       yesterday it was an unscheduled meeting.  I am just

         9       wondering, now that you've explained you obviously had some

        10       notice, you had to come from WA, how much notice did you

        11       have of the meeting, according to your recollection?

        12       A.   Bearing in mind that I haven't even received the

        13       minutes of that meeting yet, I cannot answer your question.

        14

        15       Q.   It was an unusual meeting, wasn't it?

        16       A.   Yes, it was unusual in several respects, unusual in

        17       the fact that we had one at all in January, and unusual for

        18       some of the outcomes of the meeting, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   It's only a couple of months ago.

        21       A.   Well, we've had about five board meetings by telephone

        22       since.

        23

        24       Q.   How much notice did you have of what you described

        25       yesterday as the "unscheduled meeting"?

        26       A.   I can't answer your question correctly.

        27

        28       Q.   Well, was it days?

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   What's the point of this, Mr Allen?

        31

        32       THE WITNESS:   Yes.  Please help me, Mr Cole.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Please, Mr Moffet, you just answer the

        35       questions you're asked.  What's the point of all this,

        36       whether he had one day, two days or three days, Mr Allen?

        37

        38       MR ALLEN:   Well, it might be a point where he had a

        39       month's notice in writing.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   If he did, put it to him.

        42

        43       MR ALLEN:   Well, I will, but I am testing this witness's

        44       credit.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand that.

        47
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         1       MR ALLEN:   Because Mr Agius was very excited about the

         2       potent admission yesterday, and I want to test this man's

         3       credit, sir.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   I object to that.  My excitement yesterday is

         6       no part of any adequate or proper response to that inquiry.

         7

         8       MR ALLEN:   I withdraw it if it was inappropriate.  In my

         9       submission, the way this evidence was led yesterday was

        10       inappropriate.  I'll come back to that subject, possibly,

        11       sir.

        12

        13       Q.   Let me put to you then - to cut all this short - that

        14       what you described yesterday as part of your explanation as

        15       why nobody asked any questions, having heard the explosive

        16       admission - part of your explanation was it was an

        17       unscheduled meeting; that was what you said yesterday,

        18       wasn't it?

        19       A.   Mmm.  Meetings are not normally scheduled for January.

        20

        21       Q.   This meeting was fixed on 13 December 2005 at the

        22       previous meeting, wasn't it?

        23       A.   I don't believe so.  There was mention maybe of a

        24       meeting, but calendars had to be checked as to who would be

        25       available in January, bearing in mind that it's the normal

        26       holiday month for many people.

        27

        28       Q.   If you can't hear me, say so.

        29       A.   I have.

        30

        31       Q.   If I talk too quickly, say so.  If you don't follow

        32       anything that I'm putting to you.  Do you deny that at the

        33       meeting on 13 December 2005, which you had attended - do

        34       you agree you were in attendance at that meeting in

        35       December?

        36       A.   Mr Stewart was in attendance - is that the question

        37       you were asking me?

        38

        39       Q.   You?

        40       A.   Yes, of course I was there.

        41

        42       Q.   Do you deny that at that meeting it was resolved that

        43       the next meeting would take place on 12 January 2006?

        44       A.   I don't recall that, but is that the post script to

        45       the board minute?  Is that the closing remarks of the board

        46       minutes?

        47
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         1       Q.   I'm just putting the questions to you.  So you don't

         2       recall that?

         3       A.   No, I don't.

         4

         5       Q.   Do you recall receiving agenda papers and agendas on

         6       about 6 January 2006 for the scheduled meeting on

         7       12 January?

         8       A.   I don't know whether I received it on the 6th.

         9       Sometimes, to ensure that I received my agenda papers, they

        10       had to be air couriered to our apartment in South Perth.

        11       Otherwise they were sent to our farm in Morawa, where - and

        12       I haven't got my personal diary here - I may have been on

        13       the farm.  My wife was in Perth at the apartment, so where

        14       they were sent to and how they were sent to me and when I

        15       received them, I really can't answer your question, sir.

        16

        17       Q.   Let's move on to the next aspect of this meeting.  You

        18       were asked whether it was a meeting of both boards or only

        19       the AWB board, and you said the parent board, AWBL, didn't

        20       you, yesterday?

        21       A.   That's when we were having this conversation about the

        22       revelations from Mr Lindberg.

        23

        24       Q.   Is that still your evidence?

        25       A.   I believe it is, sir.

        26

        27       Q.   Could you be mistaken about that?

        28       A.   It's possible I could be mistaken.

        29

        30       Q.   What sort of a memory do you have, Mr Moffet?

        31       A.   An excellent one.

        32

        33       Q.   Do you?  Let me suggest to you that on 12 January 2006

        34       there were three meetings.  There was a scheduled joint

        35       board information session, a meeting of AWBI and a meeting

        36       of AWBL - do you dispute that?

        37       A.   No, I don't necessarily dispute it at all.  I wouldn't

        38       call an information session a board meeting.

        39

        40       Q.   Wouldn't you?

        41       A.   No, I wouldn't.

        42

        43       Q.   You were being asked yesterday about where it was and

        44       in which circumstances you received or heard the explosive

        45       admissions, weren't you?

        46       A.   Yes, I was.

        47
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         1       MR LUNDBERG:   With respect, the questioning, to the extent

         2       to which any of this is relevant, yesterday was directed to

         3       a paragraph in the statement of Mr Moffet which concerned

         4       the 12 January board meeting.  It wasn't put as a general

         5       question, unless my friend can direct my attention to that.

         6       I don't think that question just put has a fair assumption

         7       behind it.  May it please the Commission.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Can we just get on with the

        10       substance of it.

        11

        12       MR ALLEN:   Yes, sir.  I don't think much time has been

        13       taken up on the part of Mr Lindberg during the course of

        14       these proceedings.  We consider it's important to explore

        15       this witness's evidence.  I ask for your patience in that

        16       regard.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   You have my patience up to a limit.

        19

        20       MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir.

        21

        22       MR LUNDBERG:   My apologies to Mr Allen for rising again.

        23       Is it proposed by my friend that a supplementary statement

        24       is to be put on by Mr Lindberg in respect of these matters.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   I assume so.

        27

        28       MR LUNDBERG:   I'm just conscious of a direction you made

        29       in relation to the limits of cross-examination, may it

        30       please you.

        31

        32       MR ALLEN:   No-one should presume anything,

        33       Mr Commissioner, let alone my learned friend.  I'm asking

        34       questions pursuant to leave.  The credit of this witness

        35       surely is an issue, or a matter to be considered by you, in

        36       light of his evidence yesterday.  I'm testing it.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   There are two aspects:  one is the

        39       issue of credit and the other is cross-examination in

        40       relation to an issue.  There has been a very full

        41       examination of I think all witnesses in relation to the

        42       question of credit.  There has been a wide-ranging and

        43       detailed examination.  What I intend to do is to allow

        44       cross-examination in relation to the issue, as I have

        45       called it, and to suggest that amongst you all, all eight

        46       or nine silks and juniors, and whoever else is there, you

        47       nominate one person to examine each witness on credit and
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         1       you can pool your resources.  That will stop an

         2       interminable cross-examination on credit by eight or nine

         3       successive people.

         4

         5            It seems to me that would be an efficient way of

         6       conducting the proceedings - to give you all the chance to

         7       pool your resources and have the best person who you think

         8       has the greatest interest to cross-examine on credit, and

         9       then if somebody thinks their fellow practitioner hasn't

        10       done a satisfactory job, they can make an application to me

        11       in that respect.

        12

        13       MR ALLEN:   Yes, sir.

        14

        15       MR BARKER:   Can I be heard on this?

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   You may be nominated as the appropriate

        18       one, Mr Barker.

        19

        20       MR BARKER:   The problem is that we all have different

        21       interests and it just wouldn't work, with respect.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why not?

        24

        25       MR BARKER:   Because we each have our own instructions from

        26       our own clients.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I appreciate that.

        29

        30       MR BARKER:   I don't want someone else to deal with matters

        31       of credit on the part of my client.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   On the question of credit, as distinct

        34       from issues?

        35

        36       MR BARKER:   Yes.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   I would need to hear you about that.

        39       We will have this debate later on.

        40

        41       MR FORREST:   Can I ask to be heard in that debate when it

        42       comes?

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Of course.  Everyone can be heard in

        45       that debate when it comes.

        46

        47       MR FORREST:   Thank you.  You are aware, Mr Commissioner,
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         1       that we have addressed a letter to the Commission on this

         2       very issue.  We wish to be heard on that.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm sure you do.

         5

         6       MR ALLEN:   Mr Commissioner, I'm 15 minutes into the

         7       cross-examination of a very important witness, in relation

         8       to whom, in my submission, there was no testing of his

         9       credit yesterday.  Assertions that he made were taken and

        10       accepted and moved on, but 15 minutes in could hardly be

        11       described as interminable.  They're the first questions

        12       I've asked of any witness in the three to four weeks I've

        13       been here.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   I've not suggested your

        16       cross-examination on credit has been interminable.

        17

        18       MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir.  Then I'll proceed.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        21

        22       MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir.

        23

        24       Q.   You were asked yesterday - and to deal with the

        25       objection made by your counsel, it's at page 4188, line

        26       40 - about the meeting of the board at which this so-called

        27       admission was made.  You explained what you understood it

        28       was for and at the top of 4189 you were asked who was

        29       present.  You were asked whether it was the directors of

        30       both boards or only the AWB board, and you said "the parent

        31       board, AWBL".  Do you recall giving that evidence

        32       yesterday?

        33       A.   It hasn't come up yet, so could you bear with me?  I

        34       believe it was the parent board, because that's the

        35       information that should come from a parent board.  But I

        36       haven't got it here yet.

        37

        38       Q.   All right.  Let me suggest to you that you're wrong

        39       about that too.  Might you be wrong about that?

        40       A.   It's possible I was wrong about it.  It's a most

        41       unusual circumstance - I believe your name is Mr Allen -

        42       for AWBI and AWBL to meet at the same time, and subject

        43       matters such as this are usually the province of AWBL and

        44       not I, and bearing in mind I'm a director of both

        45       companies, it could well be that my being there - I assume

        46       I'm in there in the capacity of L only.  I don't

        47       particularly recall other members of I board being there,
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         1       but they may well have done, because the board meetings are

         2       reasonably full with advisers, legal counsel and other

         3       people.

         4

         5       Q.   How clear is your recollection as to how --

         6       A.   I'm still having trouble hearing you.

         7

         8       Q.   How clear is your recollection as to what happened

         9       that day?

        10       A.   Well, it's getting unclearer as we've had more and

        11       more telephone conferences, one per day, on average, now,

        12       four board meetings by telephone since.  If there is

        13       something that you have there that you wish to test my

        14       memory on, please do so.

        15

        16       Q.   Yes, just the next explanation you gave when you were

        17       asked about why it was that no-one said anything.  You said

        18       it wasn't a scheduled meeting, it was a rather short

        19       meeting.  Do you remember giving that evidence on your oath

        20       yesterday?

        21       A.   Well, the section we were dealing with was short.

        22       There are other general things you deal with at a board

        23       meeting.  You must bear in mind, sir, that I have not even

        24       received the minutes of this meeting yet to either refresh

        25       my memory, nor to have an input into correcting the matters

        26       and making additions or subtractions from them.  I would

        27       ask you to give me the patience on that point.

        28

        29       Q.   Was it your best belief yesterday --

        30       A.   Yes, it was my best belief yesterday.

        31

        32       Q.   -- that it was a rather short meeting, that's why the

        33       dumbfounded directors didn't ask any questions?

        34       A.   Well, that part of the meeting was rather short.  We

        35       have a habit of rather interminable meetings at times.

        36

        37       Q.   Do you?  Well, let's look at 12 January.  First of

        38       all, the first thing fixed on the agenda for that day was a

        39       joint information session with both boards, wasn't it?

        40       A.   That's not the agenda for the Limited board, that's

        41       the agenda for the day.

        42

        43       Q.   Thank you.  The first thing on the agenda for the day

        44       was a joint information session of both boards, wasn't it?

        45       A.   I don't have the paperwork in front of me --

        46

        47       Q.   Well, do you recall?
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         1       A.   Yes, of course I recall.

         2

         3       Q.   Do you recall that?

         4       A.   Yes, I do.

         5

         6       Q.   Do you recall that joint information session was

         7       addressed - attended by Mr Judd and other members of the

         8       legal team?

         9       A.   Yes, there were about four of them, if I remember

        10       correctly.

        11

        12       Q.   Do you recall that Mr Judd addressed that joint

        13       information session in some detail?

        14       A.   In a lot of detail.

        15

        16       Q.   Do you recall that Mr Lindberg also addressed the

        17       joint information session on some of the matters that had

        18       been canvassed concerning Operation Lilac?

        19       A.   I remember Mr Lindberg addressing us, yes.

        20

        21       Q.   His address was relatively short, wasn't it, on that

        22       topic?

        23       A.   I don't know whether it was or not.

        24

        25       Q.   You can't remember?

        26       A.   No, I can't, because this operation - I'm sorry,

        27       Project Lilac I think is a new name for an old project, and

        28       please correct me if I'm wrong.  We change names on

        29       projects that often.

        30

        31       Q.   You don't remember how much Mr Lindberg had to say?

        32       A.   No, I don't.

        33

        34       Q.   But you do remember that Mr Judd had a lot to say?

        35       A.   Well, he gave us a lot of information about having a

        36       lot to say.

        37

        38       Q.   That joint information session ran for about two and a

        39       half hours, didn't it?

        40       A.   I'll take your word for that.

        41

        42       Q.   Well, test your memory.  Yesterday you thought it was

        43       rather short, that's why the dumbfounded directors couldn't

        44       ask any questions.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Allen, just keep calm, please.

        47
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         1       MR ALLEN:   You'll forgive me, sir, I watched the news last

         2       night and I read the editorials in the paper this morning,

         3       which in some vague way were based on this witness's

         4       evidence yesterday as it was led through your counsel

         5       assisting in relation to potent admissions and directors

         6       being dumbfounded.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's no reason for counsel to

         9       become worked up.

        10

        11       MR ALLEN:   Well, I agree with that, sir, and I ask your

        12       forgiveness.  I'll try to be calm.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   This material first emerged yesterday in this

        15       witness's statement at paragraph 41.  It wasn't led from

        16       me.  It wasn't led by me against no background at all.  I

        17       was simply asking him to expand upon paragraph 41.

        18

        19       MR ALLEN:   Neither the words "potent", nor "admission",

        20       nor "explosive" were used in that paragraph.  At line 21 at

        21       page 4188 counsel assisting put to this witness:

        22

        23            So you regarded this as a potent admission,

        24            did you?

        25

        26       The witness replied:

        27

        28            "Explosive" would be a word I would have

        29            chosen.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Now can we get on?

        32

        33       MR ALLEN:   Yes, sir.

        34

        35       Q.   Don't worry about whether you've looked at the

        36       minutes.  You described this meeting yesterday as rather

        37       short, as part of your explanation as to why no-one could

        38       ask a question of Mr Lindberg.  It went for two and a half

        39       hours.  Does that accord with your memory of how long that

        40       meeting went for, that part of the day, the joint

        41       information session?

        42       A.   Joint information sessions do run for a long time at

        43       times.

        44

        45       Q.   Did that one run for about two and a half hours?

        46       A.   It probably did, because I believe it ended and I had

        47       a conversation with a colleague of mine about it and it was
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         1       in the men's room, so I assume that's when the meeting

         2       ended.

         3

         4       Q.   Thank you.  Was that joint information session

         5       followed by a meeting of the board of AWBI later that day?

         6       A.   I believe the I board and the L board met.  I have no

         7       records of these meetings and I think you're trying to

         8       confuse me by virtue of you having possession of papers

         9       that I'm not in possession of.

        10

        11       Q.   Let's just see if we can clarify this.  I'm not trying

        12       to confuse you.  It was your evidence yesterday that this

        13       information came out in a rather short meeting that wasn't

        14       scheduled.  I've put to you that it was scheduled.  I'm now

        15       putting to you that, rather than being rather short, in

        16       fact meetings went on for the whole day on 12 January; do

        17       you recall that?

        18       A.   Yes, it was a long day, but the board meeting itself

        19       was not exceptionally long in terms of the time it normally

        20       takes for board meetings - that's AWBL or I, for that

        21       matter.  The information session took up the time.  I

        22       thought I made it clear yesterday I was talking about the

        23       board meeting.

        24

        25       Q.   The board meeting - we'll move to that then - to which

        26       you referred yesterday, AWBL board meeting, went for

        27       approximately one and a half to two hours, didn't it, it

        28       didn't finish until about 4 o'clock that afternoon, the day

        29       having started at 9am?  Do you agree with that?

        30       A.   Well, I haven't read the minutes of the board.

        31

        32       Q.   Don't worry about the minutes.  Did the board meeting

        33       go for nearly two hours?

        34       A.   Well, it finished late in the afternoon I know because

        35       some people were trying to catch their flights.  I don't

        36       know how long it went for.  In terms of general board

        37       meetings, in my opinion, it was a relatively short one.

        38

        39       Q.   If you had considered what you'd heard as potent, let

        40       alone explosive, you had ample opportunity to ask questions

        41       of Mr Lindberg, didn't you?

        42       A.   It depends on what time of the meeting it came up,

        43       and, as I say, I don't have a record of the meeting in the

        44       way you obviously have it.  But, bearing in mind that we

        45       had been assured for months, if not years, there was no

        46       impropriety, what can you say when --

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Moffet, the question was "Did

         2       you have ample opportunity to question Mr Lindberg?"

         3       A.   I believe ample time - well, a time was made

         4       available.  It could have been made available for it.

         5

         6       MR ALLEN:   Q.   Yes.  There was nothing preventing you

         7       from asking Mr Lindberg questions that day between the

         8       hours of 9am, when the information session started, and

         9       about 4pm, when the work day finished, was there, during

        10       which time there were a series of meetings?

        11       A.   Yes, there was a series of meetings.

        12

        13       Q.   There was nothing preventing you from asking

        14       Mr Lindberg any questions you wanted to ask, was there?

        15       A.   No, because many of the questions I'd asked had been

        16       asked before on previous occasions and when we get the

        17       revelation that all that we had been told in the past

        18       seemed to be untrue, what was the point of questioning it

        19       when the revelation is that all of what you've been told in

        20       the last two years appears to be untrue.

        21

        22       Q.   I see.  You were then asked about whether you asked

        23       questions, sought information in subsequent meetings; do

        24       you remember being asked that question yesterday?  You were

        25       asked whether Mr Lindberg was ever asked to explain how it

        26       could be that he was in possession of that knowledge on

        27       12 February --

        28       A.   12 February?

        29

        30       Q.   12 January.  And your explanation was that you don't

        31       believe he has attended any meetings in person since that

        32       time.  Do you remember giving that evidence yesterday,

        33       suggesting you didn't have a chance, didn't have an

        34       opportunity, to ask him questions.  Do you remember that?

        35       A.   He attended one more --

        36

        37       Q.   Do you remember giving that evidence yesterday?

        38       A.   Yes, I do remember giving it that.

        39

        40       Q.   Thank you.  Was it the truth?

        41       A.   Well, I don't believe that he had been with us in

        42       person.  You must remember that we had an occasion to

        43       dismiss our CEO, and, as I say, we've had numerous board

        44       meetings since.

        45

        46       Q.   I don't expect you to remember the dates of these

        47       meetings, but I'll put to you some meetings to get the
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         1       picture.

         2       A.   I'm sorry, I'm not hearing that.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are these actual meetings of the board

         5       in the sense of a physical meeting, or telephone --

         6

         7       MR ALLEN:   Both, sir.  I'll identify which they are.

         8

         9       Q.   Let me suggest to you that there was a telephone

        10       meeting of the board in which you were in attendance, as

        11       was Mr Lindberg, on 23 January; do you dispute that?

        12       A.   I don't dispute that.  I don't dispute that I went to

        13       a board meeting on the day after Australia day, 27th --

        14

        15       Q.   I'm coming to that.  That meeting on the 23rd went for

        16       something more than an hour, do you dispute that?

        17       A.   Which one?

        18

        19       Q.   The meeting on the 23rd by telephone, 23 January?

        20       A.   Yes, it was reasonably long.

        21

        22       Q.   You had ample opportunity to ask any questions, didn't

        23       you?

        24       A.   Well, yes, I guess so, but you don't - a telephone

        25       board meeting is a difficult way of running a board

        26       meeting, and there are other people on the board who could

        27       be asking questions as well.

        28

        29       Q.   Was there another meeting the next day, on the 24th,

        30       which went for about half an hour, by telephone, of the

        31       whole board, including you and Mr Lindberg?

        32       A.   As I've said, we had numerous telephone board meetings

        33       in the period.

        34

        35       Q.   Was there a formal board meeting - that is in person -

        36       in a board room, conducted on 27 January?

        37       A.   Yes, yes, we turned up for that.

        38

        39       Q.   Which went for about five hours, that is between 11am

        40       and something close to 5 o'clock that afternoon?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   Ample opportunity to ask questions of Mr Lindberg

        44       about this explosive admission, was there --

        45       A.   Yes, there was.

        46

        47       Q.   -- if it had been made, and if you'd considered it to
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         1       be explosive?

         2       A.   We're dealing with the - mostly with the requirements

         3       of the Commission and all that had happened and doing

         4       post-mortems on what has happened years before seemed

         5       irrelevant.

         6

         7       Q.   Finally, there was a board meeting in person at the

         8       board room on 9 February, wasn't there?

         9       A.   I believe so.

        10

        11       Q.   It broke into two parts.  There was a morning meeting

        12       and an afternoon meeting?

        13       A.   Yes, we adjourned for some time.

        14

        15       Q.   Mr Lindberg was present at the morning meeting, wasn't

        16       he?

        17       A.   Yes, he was and I think the purpose of the adjournment

        18       was to work out his terms of disengagement.

        19

        20       Q.   It just doesn't make any sense, your story about

        21       having heard this dumbfounding, thunderstriking, explosive

        22       admission, and yet never saying a word about it or asking

        23       any questions, does it?  It doesn't make any sense?

        24       A.   It makes a lot of sense to me.

        25

        26       Q.   Does it?

        27       A.   Yes, because it's an event that's already occurred,

        28       there are wheels of the judicial process already starting,

        29       and the time and effort of our counsel and the board was

        30       directed to preserving the integrity of the company and

        31       moving on to see that the company survived this disastrous

        32       period of revelations, and what has happened with a

        33       previous employee of ours is no longer of enormous concern,

        34       we believe it's - certainly I believe it's the province of

        35       this Commission to work towards that.

        36

        37       Q.   Thank you.

        38       A.   Crying over spilt milk is not a particularly

        39       productive activity for anybody, and this company at the

        40       time, seeing its share price fall, all sorts of accusations

        41       being made about it, and the time and effort and the

        42       intellect of our board is better spent preserving the

        43       capital of this company, the reputation of the company and

        44       the marketing ability of our professional staff rather than

        45       bleating about shortfalls in somebody else's conduct.  It's

        46       a non-productive thing to do.

        47
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         1       Q.   Yes, thank you.  I just want to ask you in a bit more

         2       detail about what was actually said at this meeting.  First

         3       of all, do you recall when it was that Mr Lindberg made

         4       mention of the service charge or service fee?  Was it

         5       during the --

         6

         7       MR JUDD:   Perhaps we'd better get the meeting identified.

         8       We've been through a few.

         9

        10       THE WITNESS:   It would be very helpful to me.

        11

        12       MR ALLEN:   Q.   12 January.  There were three meetings,

        13       weren't there?  There was initially the joint information

        14       session, which went for a couple of hours in the morning.

        15       Do you agree with that?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   That was followed later that day with a relatively

        19       short AWBI meeting.

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   That was followed by a lengthy AWB meeting?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   Can I suggest to you that it was during the course of

        26       that first joint board information session,  which ran from

        27       about 9 to about midday, thereabouts, on that day, that

        28       both Mr Lindberg and to a greater extent Mr Judd --

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   I hope my friend is not going to ask this

        31       witness what I might have said during the meeting.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I hope he's not.

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   I have a special interest in that, apart from

        36       the question of privilege, sir.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   I realise that.

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   It would be entirely inappropriate.

        41

        42       MR ALLEN:   I don't think I'm that silly.  I wasn't

        43       proposing to.

        44

        45       Q.   Was it during that first session, the lengthy joint

        46       information session, that the subject of the service fee

        47       was touched upon, or don't you recall?
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         1       A.   No, you're talking downwards, I can't hear the end of

         2       your sentence.

         3

         4       Q.   Was it during that first session, the joint

         5       information session, that the subject of the service fee

         6       was touched upon, mentioned?

         7       A.   Well, it could be, you've got the record of the

         8       meeting, I don't.

         9

        10       Q.   Do you recall which meeting it was?

        11       A.   No, because they were a continuous affair, the

        12       meetings - one meeting went to another meeting went to

        13       another meeting.

        14

        15       Q.   Do you recall precisely when it was in the course of

        16       the day that Mr Lindberg said what you say he said?

        17       A.   No, I can't recall at what time of the day.

        18

        19       Q.   Do you recall precisely what he said, or have you got

        20       a recollection of the gist of what he said?

        21       A.   My recollection is to the people who were there - and

        22       I don't know whether our legal counsel was there then,

        23       because people come and go from our meetings - it was in

        24       the - it wasn't part of a formal GM's presentation to the

        25       board, it was more of a historic accounting of things and,

        26       in terms of the upcoming Commission, there's a whole lot of

        27       issues and sub-matters that were discussed.  These are part

        28       of a long-standing series of presentations to the board

        29       about Volcker - the whole issue of Project Rose/Lilac,

        30       whatever you want to call it.

        31

        32       Q.   I take it you do not recall precisely what he said?

        33       A.   No, I don't recall precise words.

        34

        35       Q.   You were asked yesterday whether, in saying what he

        36       said, he mentioned the 10 per cent being added or being

        37       part of the trucking fee.  Do you remember being asked that

        38       question?

        39       A.   Yes, I do remember being asked that question.

        40

        41       Q.   You initially said, "We were told in January this

        42       year" - do you remember giving that answer?

        43       A.   Yes, I believe it was in January of this year.

        44

        45       Q.   You were later asked whether you were told in January

        46       of this year, you said you weren't, not before 12 January

        47       this year; do you remember giving that evidence?
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         1       A.   Yes, I do.

         2

         3       Q.   Is it your recollection that the reference to the

         4       aftersales service fee and the 10 per cent was made on

         5       12 January?

         6       A.   I believe that's the time.

         7

         8       Q.   By Mr Lindberg?

         9       A.   Yes, by Mr Lindberg.

        10

        11       Q.   All right.  Would you look at this document, please.

        12       Could we bring up exhibit 19, WST.0002.0001, please, at

        13       0002.  This is the second page.  I'm going to ask you to

        14       look at a document on the screen, Mr Moffet.

        15       A.   Yes, when it comes, I will.

        16

        17       Q.   Yes, sure.  Is it in front of you now?

        18       A.   Yes, I've got it here.

        19

        20       Q.   All right.

        21       A.   Where does this come from?

        22

        23       Q.   This is a document produced by Mr Lindberg, do you

        24       follow?  If you look halfway down that page --

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's dated 13 January.

        27

        28       MR ALLEN:   Yes, sir, as it says that on the foot of the

        29       page.

        30

        31       Q.   The dot point in the centre of the page says:

        32

        33            The transport fees rose over time and, from

        34            2001, IGB imposed an additional 10% service

        35            fee on the total contract price.

        36

        37       A.   Yes, I see that.

        38

        39       Q.   Is that, to your recollection, consistent with or in

        40       accordance with what you heard Mr Lindberg say at that

        41       meeting?

        42       A.   Well, that part seems to, yes.

        43

        44       Q.   Thank you.

        45       A.   Is this part of our board minutes?

        46

        47       Q.   No, it's not.  Don't worry about what it is.  That's
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         1       the effect, the gist of what you heard Mr Lindberg say that

         2       day?

         3       A.   That's part of what he said.

         4

         5       Q.   What else did he say, on the topic of the aftersales

         6       service fee and the 10 per cent, can you recall?

         7       A.   I'd need to see his presentation paper, if indeed he

         8       had one, in the minutes of the meeting itself.

         9

        10       Q.   Can you recall anything else he said on that topic of

        11       the transport fees, the 10 per cent, the service fee, other

        12       than what I just read to you?

        13       A.   Forgive me, but I don't see what it is you're asking.

        14       What are you actually asking me?

        15

        16       Q.   Can you recall him saying any more than that?  It

        17       appears at that dot point that I just read out on that

        18       topic.

        19       A.   On the topic of transport within Iraq?

        20

        21       Q.   Of 10 per cent service fee imposed by the IGB?  Can

        22       you recall him saying any more than that?

        23       A.   I can't say I do.

        24

        25       MR ALLEN:   Thank you, Mr Commissioner.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anyone wish to ask any questions

        28       arising?  Mr Lundberg?

        29

        30       <EXAMINATION BY MR LUNDBERG:

        31

        32       MR LUNDBERG:   Q.   Mr Moffet, how long do the board

        33       meetings of the Australian Wheat Board Limited parent

        34       company usually last for?

        35       A.   Well, they have lasted over a day, but generally a

        36       full day is allocated for them.

        37

        38       Q.   A full day?

        39       A.   A full day.  In the last several months they've been

        40       slightly shorter than that.

        41

        42       MR LUNDBERG:   May it please the Commission.  No more

        43       questions.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius?

        46

        47
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         1       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  Could we bring up, please, WST.0020.0015.

         4       This is your statement, Mr Moffet, paragraph 41.

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   In the statement you were speaking of what had

         8       occurred at the AWB board meeting on 12 January 2006.  You

         9       say:

        10

        11            To the best of my recollection, the first

        12            occasion on which I was informed that the

        13            AWB had in fact paid after-sales-service

        14            fees (including commissions) which were on

        15            paid to the Iraqi government, was at an AWB

        16            Board meeting on 12 January 2006.

        17            Mr Lindberg informed me and the other

        18            directors of these matters at that Board

        19            meeting.

        20

        21       You don't say anything in that paragraph about 10 per cent.

        22       Did Mr Lindberg inform you in the course of that meeting

        23       that it was a 10 per cent aftersales service fee?

        24       A.   I can't recall if it was actually 10 per cent,

        25       6 per cent - just as a per cent.  It may well have been 10.

        26

        27       Q.   Just going along that line, you say:

        28

        29            ...which were on paid to the Iraqi

        30            government...

        31

        32       I want you to consider that.  Did Mr Lindberg tell you that

        33       AWB had in fact paid this money and that it was in fact

        34       onpaid to the Iraqi Government?

        35       A.   That's the impression I got, the mechanism of which I

        36       don't understand.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  That's the re-examination.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there any reason why Mr Moffet

        41       shouldn't be excused?

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   No.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Moffet.  You're excused,

        46       thank you.

        47
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         1       THE WITNESS:   Thank you for your courtesy.

         2

         3       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

         4

         5       MR LUNDBERG:   Sir, might I be excused from the Bar table?

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Lundberg.

         8

         9       MR LUNDBERG:   May it please you.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, we come now to that section of

        12       the public hearings dealing with particularly BHP,

        13       BHP Petroleum and Tigris Petroleum and the recent

        14       amendments to the letters patent.  In that regard we have

        15       received from BHP a statement from Mr Thomas Stephen Harley

        16       with a number of annexures.  We've also received a

        17       statement from Zlatko Todorcevski, who was the chief

        18       financial officer of BHP Billiton petroleum Group.  We

        19       propose to tender those statements and the annexures and to

        20       make them available in the next few moments to enable those

        21       persons interested, and in whose interest it may be, to

        22       read them and to form a view as to whether or not there is

        23       any matter upon which they might wish to examine the

        24       witnesses.

        25

        26            We understand that sometime during the last hour we

        27       were to receive a statement from Mr Aiken.  If that becomes

        28       available, I would propose to tender that and also make

        29       that available to those who have authorisation to appear,

        30       so that, again, they may consider their position in

        31       relation to those statements.

        32

        33            I would then propose that the inquiry adjourn so as to

        34       permit persons an opportunity to read those statements and

        35       that we resume at 2 o'clock, at which time I would have

        36       some further examination of Mr Harley, which, on what I

        37       know to date, would be quite short.  I would not imagine

        38       there would be any examination of the chief financial

        39       officer.  I don't want to commence the examination of

        40       Mr Harley until I see Mr Aiken's statement.

        41

        42            So we could use the next three hours to make the

        43       statements available to those who would have an interest in

        44       the matter.  By that, I mean it's apparent that AWB would

        45       have an interest in this and that Mr Stott may have an

        46       interest in it.  It may be that one or two other

        47       individuals may have a separate interest, but it's
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         1       difficult to identify any separate interest that wouldn't

         2       be covered by the interests of AWB.  I just make those

         3       comments for my learned friends' consideration.  That's the

         4       course that I propose, Mr Commissioner, if that finds

         5       favour with you.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Gleeson?

         8

         9       MR GLEESON:   Commissioner, I should announce my

        10       appearance.  I think on a previous occasion you granted

        11       authorisation to Mr Bathurst and Mr Hmelnitsky.  I seek the

        12       same authorisation.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that's granted on the usual terms.

        15

        16       MR GLEESON:   Thank you, Commissioner.  We're content with

        17       the course proposed.  I am informed that the statement from

        18       Mr Aiken has been delivered to the Commission.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anyone oppose that proposed

        21       course?  We'll proceed along those lines, Mr Agius.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will therefore tender the

        24       statement of Thomas Stephen Harley dated 7 March 2006,

        25       which runs from WST.0022.0001 through to 0067.  I tender

        26       that as a public exhibit.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #524 STATEMENT OF THOMAS STEPHEN HARLEY,

        29       DATED 7/3/2006, BARCODED WST.0022.0001-0067

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   I tender as a confidential exhibit the exhibit

        32       to that statement, which is marked TSH-1.  It runs from

        33       WST.0022.0069 through to and inclusive of 0249.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will be confidential exhibit 171.

        36

        37       EXHIBIT #171C EXHIBIT TSH-1 TO STATEMENT OF THOMAS STEPHEN

        38       HARLEY, BARCODED WST.0022.0069-0249

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   To a very large extent relevant portions of

        41       that exhibit have been reproduced in Mr Harley's statement.

        42       I would ask Mr Gleeson to consider and obtain instructions

        43       on the issue of whether or not the whole of that exhibit or

        44       any portions of it ought to remain as a confidential

        45       exhibit, or whether there is any claim for confidentiality

        46       in relation to it.  Perhaps that consideration can be given

        47       sooner rather than later.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   I tender the statement of Zlatko Todorcevski,

         5       which is dated 7 March 2006 and runs between WST.0023.0001

         6       through to 0006, as a public exhibit.

         7

         8       EXHIBIT #525 STATEMENT OF ZLATKO TODORCEVSKI,

         9       DATED 7/3/2006, BARCODED WST.0023.0001-0006

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the annexure, which is

        12       exhibit ZT-1, also as a public exhibit, but I will edit

        13       from that the bank account details which appear in the

        14       document at page 5 of the exhibit, which is 0012.  I will

        15       edit from the document which appears at page 33 of the

        16       exhibit - that's 0040 - everything bar the first page down

        17       to and inclusive of the second paragraph and the last two

        18       lines on page 37.

        19

        20       EXHIBIT #526 ANNEXURE ZT-1 TO STATEMENT

        21       OF ZLATKO TODORCEVSKI

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make a non-publication order in

        24       respect of the portions you've indicated you intend to

        25       excise.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   I'd ask my learned friend Mr Gleeson to

        28       consider whether there's any other claim for

        29       confidentiality, but, as I said, that would seem to be the

        30       only material that might possibly be confidential.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Aiken's statement has been produced

        33       to the Commission, although you may not yet have it.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   I haven't seen it.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll mark it now as exhibit 527.  It

        38       can be circulated to those who may be interested in the

        39       course of the morning.

        40

        41       EXHIBIT #527 STATEMENT OF PHILIP STANLEY AIKEN,

        42       BARCODED WST.0024.0002-0030

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   I'll have a look at it.  Subject to any matter

        45       that takes our attention, we may or may not be able to

        46       circulate all of the exhibits to it.  Might we also tender

        47       the exhibits, then, to Mr Aiken's statement.



            .9/3/06 (43)               4267

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I'll mark the exhibits to

         3       Mr Aiken's statement as exhibit 528.  At this stage I'll

         4       make a non-publication order in relation to those exhibits.

         5

         6       EXHIBIT #528 EXHIBITS TO STATEMENT OF PHILIP STANLEY AIKEN

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Subject to any other matter arising, it may be

         9       convenient now to adjourn until not before 2 o'clock.

        10

        11       MR FORREST:   Could I raise an unrelated matter,

        12       Mr Commissioner?

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Forrest.

        15

        16       MR FORREST:   Obviously we've moved away from the AWB

        17       witnesses now, but it's equally obvious that the door has

        18       been left open to recall some of them if it's thought

        19       appropriate.  What I rise for, sir, is, firstly, to ask the

        20       Commission that if witnesses for whom I appear are to be

        21       recalled, we receive notice of that as soon as possible so

        22       that we may consider the position.  Secondly, we would be

        23       very grateful to receive an indication from the Commission

        24       and those assisting of the topics and documents that are to

        25       be the subject of further examination, if there is to be

        26       any, because that would enable us, firstly, to efficiently

        27       prepare our clients and, secondly, if it were thought

        28       appropriate, to prepare supplementary statements responsive

        29       to the topics and documents that are sought to be examined.

        30

        31            I hope my learned friend Mr Agius is listening.  It

        32       would be not only a courtesy to us; it would be, we think,

        33       very helpful to the Commission if we were able to present

        34       that material to our clients so that they may give their

        35       evidence efficiently.  We note in passing that it's a

        36       courtesy that has been granted to a number of other

        37       witnesses already in this matter, but, regrettably, none

        38       for whom I appear.  That's what I ask you, Commissioner.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I've noted your remarks, and I'm

        41       sure Mr Agius has as well.  Very well.  We'll adjourn until

        42       2 o'clock.

        43

        44       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        45

        46

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, might I formally record the

         4       fact of variations to the non-publication orders.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   These variations were made since we last

         9       adjourned.  For everybody's knowledge, I will simply record

        10       what they were on the transcript.  So far as confidential

        11       exhibit 171C is concerned, which is exhibit TSH-1 to

        12       Mr Harley's statement, so much of the non-publication order

        13       was dissolved so as to permit publication of all of that

        14       exhibit save for any portion which was marked

        15       "confidential", and, in accordance with that variation,

        16       there has been a distribution of that document so edited.

        17       Would you, Mr Commissioner, mark it as a public exhibit?

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  It will become exhibit 529.

        20

        21       EXHIBIT #529 EXHIBIT TSH-1 TO STATEMENT OF THOMAS STEPHEN

        22       HARLEY, FORMERLY EXHIBIT 171C

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   So far as Mr Aiken's statement is concerned, it

        25       has been tendered and marked as a public exhibit, 527.

        26       Since the inquiry last adjourned there has been a variation

        27       to the non-publication order in relation to the annexure to

        28       Mr Aiken's statement.  That was exhibit PSA-1.  The

        29       non-publication order has been dissolved to the extent that

        30       all documents which are within this document and not marked

        31       with the word "confidential" have been made public

        32       documents, with the exception of one page which was marked

        33       "confidential" which has been made a public document, and

        34       that page was simply the first page of Mr Aiken's diary for

        35       the year 2000.  That's page 55 of the exhibit.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   I withdrew those non-publication orders

        38       in chambers.

        39

        40       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, just before my learned friend

        41       continues, I wonder if I could just ask a question of my

        42       learned friend in relation to PSA-1, or that part of

        43       exhibit 527 which is PSA-1.  The copy that we have been

        44       provided with does not have a page numbered 91 in the top

        45       right-hand corner.  I wondered whether or not that had been

        46       excluded for some reason, or whether it is just oversight

        47       and we will be provided with it.



            .9/3/06 (43)               4269

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   It is marked as confidential in the exhibit as

         3       it was provided to the inquiry.

         4

         5       MR LACAVA:   It is referred to on page 20, paragraph 85 of

         6       the statement.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have a page 91 and page 92.  You do

         9       not have page 91?

        10

        11       MR LACAVA:   We don't have page 91, Commissioner.  We have

        12       page 92, and I think I can say that applies for my learned

        13       friends as well.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   That's because a claim for confidentiality was

        16       made in relation to that page.  I wonder if Mr Gleeson

        17       might consider page 91 of the exhibit to Mr Aiken's

        18       statement.  It doesn't appear to me, upon reflection, to

        19       warrant being marked as a confidential document.

        20

        21       MR GLEESON:   I will get some instructions,

        22       Mr Commissioner, but I don't think there will be a pressing

        23       of that claim.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   I am indebted to my learned friend Mr Lacava

        28       for bringing that to my notice.  That brings us,

        29       Mr Commissioner, to Mr Harley.  I call Thomas Stephen

        30       Harley.

        31

        32       <THOMAS STEPHEN HARLEY, sworn:          [2.14pm]

        33

        34       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Harley, might we have your full name

        37       for the record, please?

        38       A.   Thomas Stephen Harley.

        39

        40       Q.   And you appear today in answer to a notice requiring

        41       your attendance?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   We have a statement from you, Mr Harley, which has

        45       been marked as exhibit 524 - WST.0022.0001.  It is of 67

        46       pages, 277 paragraphs, dated 7 March 2006.  Could we bring

        47       up page 0067.  Is that your signature?
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         1       A.   It is.

         2

         3       Q.   Are the contents of that statement true and correct to

         4       the best of your knowledge and belief?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   I want to begin in about January of 1996, Mr Harley.

         8       Do you have a copy of your statement handy?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   This is a document that is not referred to in your

        12       statement, but it is a BHP document, and it appears to have

        13       been authored by Mr Davidson Kelly.  Could we bring up,

        14       please, BHP.0007.0022.

        15       A.   May I have a hard copy of that document?

        16

        17       Q.   We will endeavour to print one off for you.

        18       A.   Thank you.

        19

        20       Q.   I wonder if in the meantime you might persevere with

        21       the computer screen.  When you get to the bottom of the

        22       first page, if you would indicate, the monitor will turn

        23       the page.

        24       A.   Please turn the page.  I have finished that page.

        25

        26       Q.   If we turn the page, you will see that there is a note

        27       "CN Davidson Kelly".  You would have observed that that was

        28       dated 3 January 1996 and commenced with the heading "Notes

        29       of meetings with Iraqi Ministers of Oil and Trade".  And

        30       then, if we go to 0025 --

        31       A.   Could I have a copy of this one as well, please?

        32

        33       Q.   Yes, it is in hand, Mr Harley.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there a second page to this?

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  I am sorry.

        38

        39       THE WITNESS:   I have finished with that page, Mr Agius.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Would you mind indicating to the monitor

        42       when you have finished reading the page.

        43       A.   Sorry.

        44

        45       Q.   The first of those documents appeared to be notes for

        46       meetings that were planned with the Iraqi ministers of oil

        47       and trade, and the second of them appeared to be notes of
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         1       what had occurred during the course of those meetings.  I

         2       know it was a long time ago, Mr Harley, but can you

         3       recollect whether or not you saw either set of notes?

         4       A.   I don't recall seeing either of them.

         5

         6       Q.   The notes of the meetings with the ministers for oil

         7       and trade record at page 0027 - and I am assuming that this

         8       was Mr Davidson Kelly - two-thirds from the bottom:

         9

        10            I reaffirmed the BHPP position.  The first

        11            cargo in the Aid programme was due to

        12            unload in Iraq around 14 February 1996.

        13

        14       And then he speaks about delay.  Then if we go over the

        15       page, in the fourth paragraph he says:

        16

        17            Therefore the first shipment was

        18            effectively a gift from BHP to the people

        19            of Iraq, permitted by the UN Sanctions

        20            Committee.  After it had been landed we

        21            would resume our discussions with the

        22            Australian authorities to try to persuade

        23            them that their interpretation was too

        24            severe.

        25

        26       Was there a plan in 1996 to continue shipments of wheat to

        27       Iraq, either on the basis of gifts or on the basis of loans

        28       to be paid for against letters of credit?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   And this first shipment, so far as we understand from

        32       your statement, was, to your knowledge, always intended to

        33       be - that is, from the time that it left Australia - a

        34       gift?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   There was never any question in your mind that it was,

        38       from the time that it left Australia, intended to be a

        39       gift?

        40       A.   It was always intended to be a gift.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender those two documents.

        43       The first runs from BHP.0007.0022 through to and inclusive

        44       of 0024.

        45

        46

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #530 BHP DOCUMENT AUTHORED BY MR DAVIDSON KELLY,

         2       HEADED "NOTES OF MEETINGS WITH IRAQI MINISTERS OF OIL AND

         3       TRADE", BARCODED BHP.0007.0022-0024

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   The second runs from BHP.0007.0025 through to

         6       0028.

         7

         8       EXHIBIT #531 BHP DOCUMENT AUTHORED BY MR DAVIDSON KELLY,

         9       BEING NOTES OF MEETINGS WITH THE MINISTERS FOR OIL AND

        10       TRADE, BARCODED BHP.0007.0025-0028

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I want to come forward now to May of 1997.

        13       This would be at about page 50 of your statement.  At the

        14       bottom of page 50 you refer to a facsimile from DFAT dated

        15       27 May 1996, and you set out, helpfully, a transcript of

        16       that facsimile.  Clearly, if one accepts the DFAT letter on

        17       its face, DFAT was dealing with a proposal that the gift

        18       arrangement be reformulated into a credit arrangement, and

        19       clearly, in this document, DFAT indicated that would be not

        20       an acceptable procedure.  Were you aware that there was to

        21       be an approach to DFAT with a view to obtaining DFAT's view

        22       as to whether the gift could be reformulated into a credit

        23       arrangement?

        24       A.   I was generally aware of that.

        25

        26       Q.   Can you tell the inquiry how was it proposed to

        27       reformulate the gift into a credit arrangement with the

        28       Iraqis?

        29       A.   I don't know.

        30

        31       Q.   One could understand how it might be that BHP might

        32       want to reformulate the gift.  Was it your understanding

        33       that the Iraqis had been told, as we have seen in that note

        34       from Mr Davidson Kelly, that the first shipment of wheat

        35       was indeed a gift?

        36       A.   I don't know what the Iraqis were told.

        37

        38       Q.   You never had a report from Mr Davidson Kelly about

        39       that?

        40       A.   No.

        41

        42       Q.   An observation can be made that you regarded this

        43       shipment of wheat as a gift, the books of BHP recorded it

        44       as a donation, and yet what we understand is that later it

        45       was regarded as a receivable - not in the books, but by

        46       some people at BHP - BHP's interest in the receivable, at

        47       least 75 per cent of it, was transferred to Tigris, and,
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         1       indeed, the Iraqis paid for this shipment years later.

         2       Have you any explanation at all as to how those

         3       circumstances came to be?

         4       A.   No.

         5

         6       Q.   The letter, or facsimile, from DFAT is dated 27 May

         7       1996, and it is from Mr Pierce, the Assistant Secretary at

         8       the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, to you.  Could

         9       we bring up, please, BHP.0007.0046.  This is a fax cover

        10       sheet addressed to you with a notation, "Mark asked me to

        11       send the following response to the recent discussions about

        12       trade options with Iraq."  And then there is a note written

        13       by Mr Stott, I would suggest:

        14

        15            Jim, when you have a minute I would

        16            appreciate a chat.

        17

        18       That is dated 27 May.  And then there's handwriting

        19       "Discussed with Charles", also dated 27 May.  That

        20       handwriting "Discussed with Charles 27/5" - can you

        21       recognise it?

        22       A.   No.

        23

        24       Q.   This is also at page 0127 of the exhibit to your

        25       statement.  On the same day we have this document - could

        26       we bring up AWB.0306.0185.  It is on BHP letterhead, a

        27       facsimile from Mr Stott to Mr Owen on 27 May.  The tracer

        28       line is a little difficult to read, but it appears to be

        29       16:40, so it would be the afternoon of 27 May.  This would

        30       be the afternoon of the day when DFAT had faxed you.  The

        31       fax from DFAT to you has a tracer line of what looks to be

        32       12:05 on that same day.  So this is four hours later.

        33       Mr Stott is asking Mr Owen to forward all the original

        34       documents for that shipment, marked to himself.  Do you

        35       know anything of the circumstances in which Mr Stott sought

        36       the original documents?

        37       A.   No.

        38

        39       Q.   The original documents included the bill of lading and

        40       invoice.  If this shipment had been a gift of wheat to the

        41       Iraqis, can you think of any reason why BHP would want to

        42       hold the bill of lading in relation to that shipment?

        43       A.   No.  I am sorry, I don't know.

        44

        45       Q.   You don't know?

        46       A.   (Witness nods).

        47
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         1       Q.   I take it you were not concerned in the retrieval of

         2       these documents from AWB by Mr Stott?

         3       A.   Not that I can recall.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that document, Mr Commissioner -

         6       AWB.0306.0185.

         7

         8       EXHIBIT #532 FACSIMILE FROM MR STOTT TO MR OWEN,

         9       DATED 27/5/1996, BARCODED AWB.0306.0185

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   On 6 June, if we go to page 53 of your

        12       statement, paragraph 212, Mr Worthington emailed you and a

        13       number of others, in a long email, which we might bring

        14       up - WST.0022.0199.  It is at page 130 of the annexures to

        15       your statement.  Paragraph 3 of that email - that is the

        16       paragraph numbered 3 under the heading "Messages", reads:

        17

        18            Australia has a long stable and flexible

        19            trade relationship with Iraq, one which has

        20            continued through the most difficult

        21            circumstances of the past decade and is

        22            underwritten by proven goodwill on both

        23            sides.  Examples...

        24

        25       And the third example is:

        26

        27            BHP's recent A$5Million wheat loan at a

        28            time of need, a gesture perhaps unmatched

        29            by any other company/country.

        30

        31       At that time, Mr Harley, what position did Mr Worthington

        32       hold?

        33       A.   I am not certain, but he was in the EURAME group - the

        34       Europe Russia Africa Middle East group - that covered the

        35       Middle East.  It may be defined in my statement.

        36

        37       Q.   You have said in your statement that you do not recall

        38       correcting the references which are set out in this email.

        39       Do you know how it came about that by 6 June this gift of

        40       wheat was being referred to as a wheat loan - a $5m wheat

        41       loan?

        42       A.   No, I don't know.

        43

        44       Q.   Although that refers to an Australian dollar amount of

        45       $5m, clearly it was a reference to the US$5m shipment of

        46       wheat.

        47       A.   Mmm.
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         1

         2       Q.   This was a new venture, so far as BHP was concerned,

         3       was it not - the provision of wheat to Iraq?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   And the gift of the wheat was part of a long-term

         7       strategy?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   Initially, what was proposed was to provide the wheat

        11       by way of a loan which might be repaid, in one way or

        12       another, in five years time or after the sanctions were

        13       lifted?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   When it was understood that the wheat could only be

        17       provided if it was to be provided as a gift, was it

        18       generally made known within the relevant sections of BHP

        19       that this wheat that was being provided to Iraq was in fact

        20       being provided as a gift?

        21       A.   I don't know - first-hand I don't know.

        22

        23       Q.   What about second-hand?

        24       A.   There is certainly no-one - on this list, Mr Barnes,

        25       Mr Davidson Kelly, Mr O'Connor, Mr Velins - I am not sure

        26       about the others - they were the people that this email was

        27       addressed to or, like me, the people who it was copied to.

        28

        29       Q.   The problem we have is that I am really seeking your

        30       assistance with this.  One of the recipients of this email

        31       is Mr Davidson Kelly.  It wasn't too long before this date

        32       that he provided a report, which he appears to have

        33       confirmed with the Iraqis, that the first shipment of wheat

        34       was a gift, and here it is being spoken of as a debt.  That

        35       would seem to be not only contrary to his own report, but

        36       contrary to your expectation and contrary to what we

        37       understand would have been known within BHP.  Is that also

        38       your understanding?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   At paragraph 223 of your statement you refer to an

        42       email that Mr Knott sent to you.  Could we bring up

        43       WST.0022.0219.  This was from Jill Roseman, directed to

        44       you, Mr Stott, and copied to Mr Davidson Kelly, and in the

        45       last paragraph there is this reported:

        46

        47            I note the timetable may require a number
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         1            of these arrangements to be finalised

         2            toward the end of November.  The Board will

         3            re-act against being pressured for an early

         4            decision on a very substantial commitment.

         5            A paper should therefore be, for Board

         6            purposes, more expansive in these areas.

         7            It should also incorporate the fact that we

         8            have already loaned US$5 million to Iraq,

         9            and explain how this is accommodated in the

        10            proposal.

        11

        12       Now, the context in which this loan of US$5m is referred to

        13       in the email is one which speaks of a board paper.  Surely

        14       when this email was sent around and there was a proposal

        15       for the board to be informed in a board paper of matters

        16       which included this $5m loan there was some discussion

        17       about that topic?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Do you recall what, if anything, was said about the

        21       reference to this as a $5m loan to Iraq?

        22       A.   I don't recall that specific issue in the discussion.

        23

        24       Q.   Does that mean, to the best of your recollection,

        25       there was no discussion on that issue, or are you unable to

        26       say one way or the other?

        27       A.   I am not able to say specifically.

        28

        29       Q.   Do you know whether the board was ever informed of

        30       this $5m as a loan to Iraq?

        31       A.   I'm unaware that they were informed of that.

        32

        33       Q.   Whose responsibility was it to see that the paper,

        34       which is referred to in this email, was prepared?

        35       A.   Mr Davidson Kelly I think was the author of the paper.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you have any interest in that paper?

        38       A.   A slight interest, in that I was consulted by Mr Knott

        39       and Mr Davidson Kelly on some aspects of it.

        40

        41       Q.   You can't recall ever speaking to him about the fact

        42       that this is now being portrayed to be a loan, whereas in

        43       fact it was a gift?

        44       A.   I had discussions with Mr Knott, and this paper didn't

        45       proceed beyond this.  The incorporation of mention of a $5m

        46       loan was not made in any subsequent paper that I'm aware

        47       of.
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         1

         2       Q.   There was a plan, though, or a proposal, which we read

         3       of in this email, for a larger loan, was there not?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   And it was in the context of this proposed larger loan

         7       that the author of this email speaks of the board having to

         8       be informed of the $5m loan to Iraq; is that not right?

         9       A.   In the context of the bigger payment.

        10

        11       Q.   Of the proposed larger loan?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   There was a proposal put forward concerning the

        15       proposed larger loan, was there not?

        16       A.   To the board?

        17

        18       Q.   Yes.

        19       A.   I'm not aware of that.

        20

        21       Q.   Is it to the best of your recollection that no such

        22       paper was ever put forward to the board?

        23       A.   I wouldn't be in a position to know, but I don't think

        24       the paper proceeded any further than Mr Aiken.

        25

        26       Q.   Do you know whether a paper went to Mr Aiken which

        27       included an explanation of this money as a loan?

        28       A.   No, I don't think it did.  I am sorry, not to my

        29       knowledge.

        30

        31       Q.   Then if I can take you to page 57 of your statement,

        32       there is there a reference to a chain of emails, which we

        33       find commencing at page 151 of the exhibit.  Were you aware

        34       that in August of 2000 this gift of wheat to Iraq was being

        35       spoken of as a loan and that, in respect of it, there was

        36       an $8m debt which was due to be paid?

        37       A.   No - in August you said?

        38

        39       Q.   Yes.

        40       A.   No.

        41

        42       Q.   Can I take you to page 0152, and to the second email

        43       that you see on that page - BHP.0004.0084.  You will see

        44       there is an email from Mr Davidson Kelly to Mr Aiken on

        45       9 May 2000, in which he says:

        46

        47            I think it would be a good idea for Tom and
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         1            me to work through the issues with Jim

         2            Lyons and Charles Stott, who were involved

         3            in the original transaction.

         4

         5       Now, the original transaction is earlier described in that

         6       email as that of being a strong possibility that the Iraqis

         7       will owe BHPP a total of $8m under a debt which

         8       crystallises in six months time.  There is an inference

         9       available from this email, Mr Harley, that I must put to

        10       you, and that is that Mr Davidson Kelly had the expectation

        11       that you too regarded this as an $8m debt, rather than a

        12       gift of wheat, as at 9 May 2000.  What do you say about

        13       that?

        14       A.   That would be wrong.

        15

        16       Q.   Mr Davidson Kelly isn't here, but I just want to take

        17       that inference and test it a little further.  Mr Davidson

        18       Kelly is suggesting to Mr Aiken that he would prefer to

        19       fill you in, but that "Tom can easily do that", which would

        20       mean that he was putting Mr Aiken in a position where

        21       Mr Aiken was told about an $8m debt and referring Mr Aiken

        22       to you so that you could talk to him about that subject

        23       matter.  The obvious inference is that Mr Davidson Kelly

        24       wouldn't be doing that if he didn't believe that you also

        25       regarded it as a debt.  What do you say to that?

        26       A.   I am sorry, I am not clear on - you are asking me if

        27       I agree with the inference?

        28

        29       Q.   Yes.

        30       A.   I disagree with it.

        31

        32       Q.   Well, had you had any conversations with Mr Davidson

        33       Kelly, or any communications with him of any kind, which

        34       would have given him to believe that you regarded this as a

        35       debt, rather than as a gift?

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   Could we go to page 59 of your statement, at

        39       paragraph 239.  You there say:

        40

        41            I note that Mr Davidson Kelly proposes in

        42            his email that we "work through the issues

        43            with Lyons and Stott".  I do not recall

        44            meeting with Mr Davidson Kelly, Mr Lyons

        45            and/or Mr Stott to "work through" any

        46            issues.

        47
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         1       Did you have anything to say to them on that topic, as

         2       opposed to meeting with them?

         3       A.   I remember speaking to Mr Davidson Kelly about it,

         4       which is referred to in my statement.

         5

         6       Q.   Is that the reference at paragraph 238?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.

        10            I also recall speaking with Mr Davidson

        11            Kelly...

        12

        13       A.   That is the reference.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you speak with Mr Lyons or Mr Stott?

        16       A.   I don't recall speaking to either of them about it.

        17

        18       Q.   Now, your last reference to this matter was in May,

        19       and your next reference, then, at paragraph 240, is

        20       in August.  Had anything occurred between May and August

        21       2000, as best as you can recall, concerning this matter -

        22       that is, the retrieval of the debt?

        23       A.   No.

        24

        25       Q.   There is just one further matter that I want to ask

        26       you about.  It concerns this question of rebadging the gift

        27       as a debt.  I don't know that we have these documents

        28       electronically.  Could I pass you two documents, each of

        29       them being a Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

        30       minute.  Would you go to the Department of Foreign Affairs

        31       and Trade minute which is addressed to Mr Laurie, and it is

        32       marked with the barcode DFT.0010.0080.  It is headed "BHP

        33       Presentation to the Secretary, 22 March".  I am showing you

        34       this just for one reason, and that is to draw your

        35       attention to paragraph 1, which indicates the following:

        36

        37            Following are the main points made by the

        38            BHP team (Graham Evans and Tom Harley

        39            especially) to the Secretary today,

        40            22 March.

        41

        42       That was, we know, 22 March 1996.  You will see that from a

        43       note at the very bottom of the page.  I just ask you to

        44       look through that minute, if you would, and to see if you

        45       can bring to mind a meeting in March of 1996.  Have you had

        46       a chance to read that document, Mr Harley?

        47       A.   I have read the first one, yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   If I could take you to the second one, which is the

         3       one addressed to the secretary, and headed "Meeting with

         4       BHP:  22 March" - again, this is 22 March 1996.  The first

         5       paragraph records this:

         6

         7            This minute supplements briefing you have

         8            already received for your discussion with

         9            BHP at 11am on 22 March by drawing on talks

        10            we had with BHP and with the Wheat Board on

        11            20 to 21 March.

        12

        13       So the sequence would seem to be that officers of DFAT had

        14       talks with BHP and the Wheat Board on 20 and 21 March, and

        15       then, so it would seem, you had a discussion with the

        16       secretary on 22 March at 11am.  I wonder if you would read

        17       this minute to the secretary.

        18       A.   Okay.

        19

        20       Q.   Mr Harley, can you recall, were you involved in the

        21       talks that BHP had had with the Department of Foreign

        22       Affairs and Trade officers on 20 or 21 March 1996?

        23       A.   I can't recall that.  I recall a meeting with the

        24       secretary, if it was Mr Flood, but I am not sure whether

        25       that was - he was the secretary on 22 March.

        26

        27       Q.   Do you recall having discussions with officers of DFAT

        28       in early 1996 involving a proposition concerning wheat

        29       trade with Iraq that would involve BHP buying a cargo of

        30       wheat for Iraq, having the cargo paid for by letters of

        31       credit due after five years, then possibly on-selling the

        32       letters of credit, one option being to Qatar, and that, in

        33       effect, BHP would be delivering to Iraq a wheat cargo for

        34       which the Iraqis did not have to pay at least for five

        35       years in order to reopen channels and options to encourage

        36       future business over a wider front with Iraq.

        37       A.   I have no specific recollection of that.  I don't say

        38       no.  I have no specific recollection.

        39

        40       Q.   Would that coincide with your recollection as to BHP's

        41       thinking at that time - that it had in mind, if it were

        42       able, to open a wheat trade with Iraq on that basis?

        43       A.   I don't have a specific recollection of that proposal,

        44       but of the general notion of using humanitarian aid as a

        45       means of establishing a position in Iraq - I think it fits

        46       into that general framework.

        47
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         1       Q.   But this is the delivery of humanitarian aid through a

         2       loan, on a letter of credit due after five years?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Do you have a recollection of that being part of BHP's

         6       proposal in March of 1996?

         7       A.   I don't have a specific recollection of that in March

         8       1996.

         9

        10       Q.   You refer in your statement at paragraph 193 to an

        11       entry that was made between 22 and 26 March.  Then you

        12       refer to notes made, which we see exhibited at page 121, or

        13       0034, and 122, or 0035.  Those notes include the word

        14       "wheat".

        15       A.   Mmm.

        16

        17       Q.   Might it be that they relate to dealings or

        18       conversations that you had with officers of DFAT on 20 or

        19       21 March 1996?

        20       A.   Possibly.

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will tender those two DFAT

        23       minutes.  The first in point of time would appear to be

        24       DFT.0010.0080 and 81, and the second DFT.0010.0078 and 79.

        25

        26       EXHIBIT #533 MINUTE FROM DFAT BARCODED DFT.0010.0080-0081

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #534 MINUTE FROM DFAT BARCODED DFT.0010.0078-0079

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Can I show you what is now a declassified

        31       ministerial submission from the Department of Foreign

        32       Affairs and Trade.  I wonder if you would read that.

        33       You will see that this is 20 days before the Department of

        34       Foreign Affairs and Trade letter to you of 27 May.  In

        35       connection with that letter of 27 May, you said at

        36       paragraph 205 that you recall that you were working with

        37       DFAT at the time on other Middle Eastern issues and that

        38       you were dealing with Mr Pierce in relation to that work,

        39       and that it might be that Mr Pierce addressed the facsimile

        40       to you because he was familiar with you from your dealings.

        41       This ministerial submission was written by Mr Pierce on

        42       7 May, so it would seem, and in it he records this at the

        43       bottom of the first page:

        44

        45            BHP has already paid the AWB for 20,000

        46            tonnes of wheat (shipped at the beginning

        47            of this year) against unwritten Iraqi
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         1            promises to repay the debt, probably with

         2            oil, post-sanctions.  That shipment was

         3            notified to the UN sanctions committee as

         4            payment in cash, by third parties.  That

         5            first gesture has cost BHP over [blank]

         6            million.

         7

         8       Had you indicated to Mr Pierce in the course of your

         9       discussions with him that the 20,000 tonne shipment of

        10       wheat that had been shipped earlier that year was shipped

        11       against unwritten Iraqi promises to repay the debt?

        12       A.   No.

        13

        14       Q.   If we go back to your statement at page 0050,

        15       paragraph 203, you transcribe the fax that was sent to you

        16       by Mr Pierce, the fax dated 27 May 1996, and it would

        17       appear that, in effect, Mr Pierce is advising you of what

        18       we see was the effect of this ministerial submission - that

        19       Minister Downer accepted the recommendation and agreed with

        20       the recommendation that the Department of Foreign Affairs

        21       refused to put forward to the UN sanctions committee BHP's

        22       proposal to send shipments of wheat to Iraq on the basis of

        23       a five-year letter of credit.  In the course of this

        24       letter, Mr Pierce says to you:

        25

        26            I understand from your colleagues that

        27            there is some authority being given to ways

        28            in which BHP's gift of wheat to Iraq might

        29            be re-formulated as a credit arrangement

        30            (whether on a five year term or different

        31            terms), or in a way which otherwise

        32            (possibly by payment in kind or in

        33            political goodwill) give BHP "value" for

        34            the gift.

        35

        36       Now, did Mr Stott have your authority to put that

        37       proposition to the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade?

        38       A.   No.

        39

        40       Q.   Did Mr Lyons have your authority to put that

        41       proposition --

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   -- to the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade?

        45       A.   (Witness shakes head).

        46

        47       Q.   If they had required authority to put that
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         1       proposition, could we deal with them separately - from whom

         2       would Mr Stott have had to obtain that authority?

         3       A.   His boss - Mr Davidson Kelly.

         4

         5       Q.   And Mr Lyons?

         6       A.   His boss, Mr Barnes, or perhaps instructed by

         7       Mr Davidson Kelly.

         8

         9       Q.   You were not in a line of authority?

        10       A.   Not to either of them.

        11

        12       Q.   Is it your evidence, then, that you were not aware

        13       that such a proposition was to be put to the Department of

        14       Foreign Affairs and Trade?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   Do I correctly understand from what you have said in

        18       paragraph 211 that you would not have been in favour of the

        19       proposition to reformulate the gift as a credit arrangement

        20       being put to the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade?

        21       A.   Sorry, I am getting lost in my negatives, but no.

        22

        23       Q.   You would not have been in favour of that proposition

        24       being put forward?

        25       A.   Sorry, I would not have been opposed to it.

        26

        27       Q.   You would not have been opposed to that proposition

        28       being put to the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade?

        29       A.   Correct.

        30

        31       Q.   How could a gift be reformulated?

        32       A.   I don't - I cannot conceive of a sensible way of doing

        33       that.

        34

        35       Q.   Well, either this was a gift --

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   -- and it was somehow reformulated, or it was never a

        39       gift and has just been called a gift because it had to be

        40       called a gift in order to coincide with the approval that

        41       had been obtained for the export of that wheat.  Would you

        42       agree with those two propositions as being alternatives?

        43       A.   I am sorry, could you just split the propositions?

        44

        45       Q.   Either it was never a gift, and it was simply called a

        46       gift by BHP so as to ensure that it met with the terms of

        47       the approval --
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         1       A.   I disagree with that proposition.

         2

         3       Q.   Your evidence is, is it, that this was always a gift

         4       so far as you were aware?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   And you can't assist us at all as to how it came to be

         8       referred to as a credit arrangement or a debt?

         9       A.   There is --

        10

        11       Q.   Or a receivable?

        12       A.   The only instance where I can offer some explanation

        13       is perhaps there were those earlier on, perhaps like

        14       Mr Worthington, who did not know of the final ruling of

        15       DFAT and thought we were still proceeding under the letter

        16       of credit proposal.

        17

        18       Q.   But when the wheat left Australia, I understood your

        19       earlier evidence to be that, from that point of time on,

        20       you understood it to be a gift?

        21       A.   Correct.

        22

        23       Q.   No issue about that, so far as you were concerned?

        24       A.   Correct.

        25

        26       Q.   If it had been mistakenly understood to be covered by

        27       the earlier proposal for a deferred letter of credit, then

        28       one wouldn't speak of it as having to be reformulated as a

        29       credit arrangement, would one?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   Because if it had always been understood to be a

        33       credit arrangement, there would be no need to reformulate

        34       it into a credit arrangement?

        35       A.   Correct.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did I understand you correctly

        38       when you said you would not have been opposed to Mr Stott

        39       advancing to DFAT the proposition that it could be

        40       reformulated?

        41       A.   Correct.

        42

        43       Q.   Why was that, if you knew it was a gift?

        44       A.   If they had a business proposition, that they wanted

        45       to reconfigure the thing to - for it to support, as long as

        46       they got DFAT permission to do that, I would not have been

        47       opposed - not opposed to going to DFAT and requesting their
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         1       agreement.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The business proposition being in terms

         4       something like this, vis-a-vis the Iraqis, "We gave you

         5       that wheat, it was a gift, but we would like you to pay us

         6       for that wheat in return for something else" - that kind of

         7       business proposition?

         8       A.   No, I don't know what their proposition was

         9       specifically.

        10

        11       Q.   Can you even imagine one?

        12       A.   I can, but I would be deeply into speculation.

        13

        14       Q.   Now, we have a letter, or a draft of a letter,

        15       exhibit 208.  Could we bring up, please, AWB.0129.015 --

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius --

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Yes, I am sorry.  I should tender the

        20       ministerial submission, which is DFT.0010.0101 through to

        21       0104.

        22

        23       EXHIBIT #535 MINISTERIAL SUBMISSION,

        24       BARCODED DFT.0010.0101-0104

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Finally, I was going to take you to

        27       exhibit 208 - AWB.0129.0152.  This document is in the form

        28       of a letter from Mr Charles Stott, to Mr Daoud, who was

        29       then the Director-General of the Grain Board of Iraq.

        30       I wonder if you would take a moment to read that.

        31       Mr Harley, do you have any knowledge of that letter?

        32       A.   I saw that letter about a month ago for the first

        33       time.

        34

        35       Q.   In connection with this inquiry?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   And in preparation for this inquiry?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Can I take you through the substance of it, and

        42       measure it against your state of knowledge as at June 1996.

        43       Were you aware as at June 1996 that for several months

        44       there had been discussions between the IGB and BHP as to

        45       how BHP should proceed in terms of establishing a suitable

        46       payment mechanism for the 20,000 tonnes of grain?

        47       A.   Not that I recall.



            .9/3/06 (43)               4286     T S HARLEY (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       Q.   You will see in the second paragraph there is what is

         3       described as an original proposal.  Does that accord with

         4       your understanding of the original proposal?

         5       A.   I believe that was one of the proposals.  Whether it

         6       can be tagged as "the original proposal", I am not sure.

         7

         8       Q.   The third paragraph, was that consistent with your

         9       knowledge - "Unfortunately, this payment procedure could

        10       not be utilised because of its apparent non acceptability

        11       to the U.N."?

        12       A.   The letter of credit arrangement could not be

        13       proceeded with because DFAT ruled against it.

        14

        15       Q.   The next paragraph, "Rather than delay the shipment of

        16       urgently needed foodstuffs, in good faith, BHP decided to

        17       proceed on a basis that was acceptable to the U.N. ie "cash

        18       payment to be received through third parties".  Does that

        19       accord with your state of knowledge in June of 1996?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   "BHP's intention was to ship the goods and then work

        23       with U.N. and the Australian government post shipment to

        24       establish a payment procedure that was mutually

        25       acceptable" - does that accord with your state of knowledge

        26       as at June 1996?

        27       A.   No.

        28

        29       Q.   And why is that?

        30       A.   Well, I wasn't - I didn't know at the time the

        31       shipment was made that it was our intention to then work to

        32       reopen the - to reformulate it - immediately.

        33

        34       Q.   Or at any time?

        35       A.   Well, I was aware of the proposal to reformulate it

        36       that surfaces later in 1996.

        37

        38       Q.   But at the time that the shipment left Australia you

        39       were not aware of any proposal to reformulate it as a

        40       credit arrangement?

        41       A.   Not so far as I can remember.

        42

        43       Q.   That was an arrangement which you have a recollection

        44       came into being later?

        45       A.   Later.

        46

        47       Q.   In May of 1996?
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         1       A.   Or perhaps earlier.

         2

         3       Q.   What's the earliest you would date that at?

         4       A.   In terms of my recollection?

         5

         6       Q.   Yes.

         7       A.   I would probably go to May.

         8

         9       Q.   And you say but perhaps earlier than May?

        10       A.   Yes, because of the document that I have subsequently

        11       seen, the Jorgensen letter.

        12

        13       Q.   Do you know what changed between 26 January 1996

        14       and May --

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   -- that led to any proposal to reformulate this gift

        18       into a credit arrangement?

        19       A.   No.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, that is the examination of

        22       Mr Harley.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Mr Gleeson, any questions?

        25

        26       MR GLEESON:   I have no questions.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   No, sir.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else have any questions?

        33

        34       MR LACAVA:   Mr Commissioner, I wish to reserve our

        35       client's position in relation to this witness and other BHP

        36       witnesses.  What I want to ask you to do is to allow us to

        37       give notice or request permission to cross-examine and to

        38       give that notice when the DFAT witnesses have given

        39       evidence or provided their witness statements.

        40       I appreciate it is a little unusual, but what we have

        41       received today I think is 468 pages of material, and I want

        42       to be in a position to get proper instructions in relation

        43       to it.

        44

        45            The material that we have received pays close

        46       attention in a number of respects to what DFAT have to say

        47       by way of correspondence.  We haven't yet heard from any
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         1       DFAT people as to what their version of those events may

         2       be.  I don't want to be in a position to have to quickly

         3       get instructions, and that would be incomplete because of

         4       the volume of material, cross-examine and then have to ask

         5       for witnesses to be brought back after the DFAT people have

         6       given their evidence.

         7

         8            Now, I should say that on a very quick reading of the

         9       documents - and we have been working on them almost

        10       continuously since we got them earlier today - my feeling

        11       is that if there is any cross-examination - and my present

        12       feeling is that that is a big "if" - but if there is any,

        13       it will be short.  But we are not yet in a position to take

        14       proper instructions and assimilate all of the factual

        15       material that has been presented to us today.  I might

        16       indicate, Commissioner, with the best intentions of

        17       everybody concerned, I know that the Commission staff were

        18       working hard to provide us with material, but we only got

        19       the attachments and Mr Aiken's statement at 25 to 1.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think the Commission only got them

        22       this morning.

        23

        24       MR LACAVA:   Yes.  I am not blaming anyone for that.  But

        25       unfortunately it has made it difficult to get instructions.

        26

        27            Now, I understand that Mr Aiken, who hasn't yet given

        28       evidence, is in Australia at the moment and there may be

        29       some availability issues in relation to him --

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   You reside in Melbourne, do you,

        32       Mr Harley?

        33

        34       THE WITNESS:   Yes.

        35

        36       MR LACAVA:   -- but of all the BHP witnesses, my

        37       preliminary view is that he is the one most crucial to

        38       perhaps any cross-examination.  I want to be in a position

        39       to take proper instructions.  I simply cannot do that with

        40       my client in Melbourne and the volume of material that we

        41       have received today.

        42

        43            What I am really asking for is an indulgence.  I am

        44       not sure when the DFAT people are scheduled, but it might

        45       be that we are not in a position to give notice as to

        46       whether or not we intend to cross-examine until sometime

        47       towards the end of next week.  I have in mind giving notice
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         1       in the form that we have already given notice in respect of

         2       the witnesses that we require for cross-examination, in

         3       accordance with your practice direction in relation to

         4       those witnesses.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, thank you, Mr Lacava.  What do you

         7       say, Mr Agius?

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   I don't know what Mr Harley's position is for

        10       the week after next.  I trust that he will be available to

        11       be recalled if necessary.

        12

        13       THE WITNESS:   Yes, sir.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   That doesn't create a problem, but

        16       Mr Aiken might.  What's the position about Mr Aiken?

        17

        18       MR GLEESON:   Commissioner, he has come from London and is

        19       here this week.  He was planning to go back this weekend,

        20       in the expectation that he would finish tomorrow.  If he

        21       doesn't finish tomorrow and he has to stay next Monday or

        22       so, so be it, but our strong preference is that any

        23       cross-examination of Mr Aiken proceed as quickly as

        24       possible after he has been examined by counsel assisting.

        25       He is the chief executive of the petroleum company.  He has

        26       come a long way here.  I think when my friend Mr Lacava

        27       has a chance to read Mr Aiken's statement, he may

        28       reconsider his need or desire to want to cross-examine him

        29       as far as the interests of Mr Stott are concerned.  So

        30       I think maybe if he reflected on that overnight, and then

        31       if we need to have a real dispute about it, we could have

        32       that tomorrow.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        35

        36       MR GLEESON:   Once people are better apprised of what the

        37       real position is.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Mr Harley, you are excused for

        40       the time being, thank you.  If you are further required,

        41       that will be by arrangement with your legal advisers.

        42

        43       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

        44

        45       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lacava, I will reserve your right in
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         1       relation to Mr Harley, but I do think you ought consider

         2       the statement of Mr Aiken overnight and indicate if you

         3       think you need to cross-examine him.  I am loath indeed to

         4       ask him to come back from London again.

         5

         6       MR LACAVA:   Yes.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Perhaps you might consider your

         9       position overnight in that respect.

        10

        11       MR LACAVA:   Yes.  I will consider that overnight,

        12       Commissioner.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   I must say, my own reading of

        15       Mr Aiken's statement doesn't put Mr Aiken and Mr Stott in

        16       much conflict, if conflict at all.  I may be wrong about

        17       that.

        18

        19       MR LACAVA:   I must say, we are delighted with the evidence

        20       that's emerged all these days after our client gave

        21       evidence.  It puts a different complexion on the ridicule

        22       that he suffered at the hands of the press, and so forth.

        23       But we will reflect on it overnight and I will advise the

        24       Commission in the morning.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        27

        28       MR FORREST:   Commissioner, could I, out of an abundance of

        29       caution, simply ask to reserve the same right.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   On whose behalf?

        32

        33       MR FORREST:   I don't know until I finish reading the

        34       material.  I don't want to be seen to be saying I have no

        35       questions until I have finished reading the material.

        36       I doubt very much whether I will have any questions.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Can you remind me whose interests you

        39       represent?

        40

        41       MR FORREST:   I represent Messrs Long, Geary and Snowball,

        42       and Ms Scales.  To my reading so far, the only one of those

        43       persons who is mentioned in any of the statements is

        44       Mr Geary, and very peripherally, and I doubt very, very

        45       much whether I will have any questions, but I just don't

        46       want to be seen to be abandoning that right until such time

        47       as I have got all the material.  That's only prudent.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Right.  Thank you.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I would call Mr Aiken.

         5

         6       <PHILIP STANLEY AIKEN, sworn:                [3.40pm]

         7

         8       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Aiken, would you tell the inquiry your

        11       full name, please?

        12       A.   Philip Stanley Aiken.

        13

        14       Q.   We have a statement from you, Mr Aiken.  Could we

        15       bring up WST.0024.0002.  Could we go to page 0030.  Is that

        16       your signature, Mr Aiken?

        17       A.   Yes, that is.

        18

        19       Q.   Are the contents of that statement true and correct to

        20       the best of your knowledge and belief?

        21       A.   Yes, they are.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   I tender the statement, Commissioner.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think it is already exhibit 527.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  As are the annexures.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you have a copy of it with you?

        32       A.   Yes, I do.

        33

        34       Q.   I wonder if you would go to page 13 of your statement,

        35       paragraph 59.  You have set out there an email that was

        36       sent by Mr Davidson Kelly to you on 19 May 2000, which he

        37       entitles "Your favourite country - a solution!".  In the

        38       second paragraph of that he says:

        39

        40            As you know I believe BHPP should try to

        41            keep its foot in Iraq, not only for future

        42            oil opportunities but also for the

        43            possibility (as yet unquantified but

        44            probably remote) of getting some money back

        45            re the cargo of grain we financed or gave

        46            them in 1996.

        47
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         1       Were you aware of anything of the cargo of grain that had

         2       either been financed or given in 1996 as at the time you

         3       received that email?

         4       A.   No, I was not.

         5

         6       Q.   You have set out in paragraphs 60 and following, down

         7       to paragraph 65, your response to that email.  You say in

         8       paragraph 63:

         9

        10            I recall that, at some point after I first

        11            heard about the possible "debt",

        12            I contacted a member of BHPP's Finance

        13            Department...

        14

        15       And that you were concerned to determine whether the

        16       possible debt was recorded on BHPP's balance sheet.  You

        17       set out your reasons for that concern.  You were told that

        18       there was nothing in the accounts.  What we know, from

        19       having seen the statement of the chief financial officer,

        20       is that the accounts disclosed this particular matter as a

        21       donation.  Were you told that?

        22       A.   No.  I was not.

        23

        24       Q.   You were told, as we see it in your statement,

        25       "nothing in the accounts".  What did you take that to mean?

        26       A.   I think I asked a very simple question, was there

        27       anything in the accounts which had been capitalised, not

        28       written off, and I was simply told there was nothing in the

        29       accounts that had been on the balance sheet or had been

        30       capitalised.

        31

        32       Q.   And that satisfied you that it was not a receivable so

        33       far as the BHP accounts were concerned?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   May we take it that you continued to have that belief?

        37       A.   Yes, I did.

        38

        39       Q.   Well, why, then, did you continue to negotiate with

        40       Mr Davidson Kelly on the basis, so it seems, that that was

        41       a receivable for BHP?

        42       A.   The main negotiation I had with Mr Davidson Kelly was

        43       about assigning the rights to the businesses that we had

        44       been looking at in Iraq, and quite basically, I didn't

        45       really focus on this debt or receivable or what it was.

        46       I had no idea what it was.

        47
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         1       Q.   But you had been told information which gave you to

         2       believe that it was not a receivable, and yet the agreement

         3       that was subsequently entered with Mr Davidson Kelly

         4       clearly indicates it as being a receivable?

         5       A.   I might have misled you before - I didn't know what it

         6       was.  I didn't know whether it was a receivable.  I had no

         7       idea.  My only inquiry was was there a final actual impact,

         8       and I was told there was none, and that's all I was

         9       concerned about.

        10

        11       Q.   But you might have been signing away something of

        12       significant interest to BHP?

        13       A.   I didn't believe I was.  I was told that it had been

        14       written off.  It had happened before my time.  I had no

        15       idea what it meant.  I really didn't worry about it.

        16

        17       Q.   Mr Davidson Kelly was sufficiently interested in it to

        18       have it included in his agreement, and did it not excite

        19       your interest that there might be something in this for

        20       BHP?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   May we take it that your level of knowledge never

        24       extended to determining what the circumstances that had

        25       occurred in 1996 were?

        26       A.   That's correct.

        27

        28       Q.   You never ventured to find out whether or not it had

        29       been regarded as a debt or as a gift in 1996?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   The concept of it being a gift was not something that

        33       you learnt of?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   I appreciate what you say about the letters you

        37       signed, or the documents you signed, on 13 September 2000,

        38       but if you go to paragraph 78 of your statement --

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   -- you set out a typescript of the "To whom it may

        42       concern" letter of 13 September 2000, which we have as an

        43       exhibit before this inquiry.  This letter specifically

        44       refers to the assignment of all rights to receive value

        45       from the Grain Board of Iraq or its assignee in relation to

        46       the cargo of grain, et cetera, which was delivered in 1996.

        47       I appreciate that you didn't draft that letter, but surely
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         1       that would have alerted you to the circumstances

         2       surrounding this original US$5m alleged debt?

         3       A.   As I said in my statement, I only glanced at this

         4       letter briefly, and I didn't at the time really think

         5       about, or didn't recognise what the value was.

         6

         7       Q.   As we understand your statement, you had effectively

         8       passed over the finetuning of the arrangement by which

         9       Mr Davidson Kelly withdrew from BHP pursuant to this

        10       agreement to Mr Lyons?

        11       A.   Correct.

        12

        13       Q.   But there are a number of annexures to your statement,

        14       which are emails from Mr Lyons to you and I believe from

        15       you to Mr Lyons, where he kept in contact with you about

        16       the arrangement that he was coming to with Mr Davidson

        17       Kelly?

        18       A.   (Witness nods).

        19

        20       Q.   That contact bespeaks of some association between you

        21       and Mr Lyons on this topic.  Did you have conversations

        22       with Mr Lyons about what it was that Mr Davidson Kelly was

        23       seeking to achieve by this agreement?

        24       A.   No - not that I can recall.

        25

        26       Q.   Did Mr Lyons tell you anything of the background to

        27       this Grain Board of Iraq receivable or debt?

        28       A.   Not that I'm aware of.

        29

        30       Q.   Did you have any discussions at all with Mr Stott, a

        31       Mr Charles Stott, about this matter?

        32       A.   No - not that I'm aware of.

        33

        34       Q.   And you signed this "To whom it may concern" letter,

        35       did you, on the basis that you had understood that Mr Lyons

        36       would have been through it and that it was appropriate for

        37       you to sign it?

        38       A.   That's correct.

        39

        40       Q.   Not on the basis that you yourself had given it any

        41       consideration?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   I have to tell you, I am more than a little intrigued

        45       about how it could be that a debt which we know was

        46       recouped from the Iraqis and retained by the Tigris

        47       corporation pursuant to this agreement could have been the
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         1       subject of this agreement without any further inquiry of

         2       BHP beyond a phone call from you to the accounts

         3       department, which resulted in you being told that there was

         4       nothing in the accounts or nothing in the books.  Was there

         5       no other inquiry undertaken?

         6       A.   Well, I certainly didn't take any inquiry.  To me,

         7       when Mr Davidson Kelly approached me, I wanted to see BHP

         8       withdraw from direct involvement in Iraq.  My focus was on

         9       the back-in rights that we preserved.  I was keen to

        10       preserve those.  This, to me, was a very minor matter.

        11       Once I had determined that there was no money, no financial

        12       impact, I basically didn't worry about it.

        13

        14       Q.   And you were retaining a 25 per cent interest in

        15       something the details of which you knew not?

        16       A.   I don't believe that the - when we did the original

        17       work with Mr Davidson Kelly, we agreed to retain a

        18       25 per cent back-in right for any projects in the future,

        19       and I think this just happened to flow through to the Grain

        20       Board receivable.  I really at the time didn't put any

        21       value on it and didn't focus on it at all.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you from time to time receive reports from

        24       Mr Davidson Kelly beyond what we see in your statement as

        25       to how his negotiations were going to recoup that debt?

        26       A.   No.

        27

        28       Q.   Did he ever tell you the mechanism by which the debt

        29       would be recouped?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   Did he ever tell you that the AWB Limited was in any

        33       way involved in recouping that debt?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   Did you have a belief as to how the debt might be

        37       recouped?

        38       A.   No.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you ever ask?

        41       A.   No, not as far as I'm aware of.

        42

        43       Q.   Did you ever learn that it was recouped - that it was

        44       recovered from the Iraqis?

        45       A.   Well, in preparing for this inquiry I came across a

        46       note which is in my statement about a meeting or a

        47       discussion I had with Mr Davidson Kelly on 20 December
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         1       2004.

         2

         3       Q.   Is that your only knowledge?

         4       A.   It is.

         5

         6       Q.   I think we have that at paragraph 110 of your

         7       statement; is that right?

         8       A.   Just let me check that.  That is correct.  That is a

         9       note from my day book.

        10

        11       Q.   Do you have any recollection, beyond what's recorded

        12       in your day book?

        13       A.   No, I do not.

        14

        15       Q.   So did Mr Davidson Kelly ever tell you the amount that

        16       he recovered?

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   Can you assist us with the meaning of the entries

        20       "Tigris to keep money from grain deal offsets shortage of

        21       money from BHPB $6mm"?

        22       A.   Well, as I said in my statement, I do not recall this

        23       meeting.  These are notes I made.  I can only now speculate

        24       what that meant, but at the time I don't remember the

        25       meeting - sorry, the discussion.  They're notes I made at

        26       the time.

        27

        28       Q.   Can you tell us how you read those notes?  What do

        29       they tell you?  You may call it speculation, but you are

        30       the best we have in relation to this at the moment,

        31       Mr Aiken?

        32       A.   Sure.  What I believe was that at the time, some

        33       months before BHP had been negotiating with Davidson Kelly

        34       about an ongoing arrangement for the future where we were

        35       going to pay so much per year.  I wasn't privy to those

        36       discussions, they were done by some people who worked for

        37       me.  I know they agreed on a shorter amount of money, and

        38       I assume Mr Davidson Kelly was referring here that some of

        39       the money he received would offset that shortage.  That's

        40       all I can suggest.

        41

        42       Q.   If by then BHP had already withdrawn from its

        43       25 per cent interest in Tigris, then I take it there was no

        44       need for Mr Davidson Kelly to account to you?

        45       A.   Yes; that's correct.  Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   At the time you gave up the 25 per cent interest in
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         1       that recoverable, did you consider that it had any value?

         2       A.   No, I considered it had no value at all.

         3

         4       Q.   Were you aware at that time as to whether or not any

         5       of the money had in fact been recovered from the Iraqis?

         6       A.   I - sorry, could you just repeat that?

         7

         8       Q.   Were you aware, as at the time that you gave up that

         9       25 per cent interest in the recoverable, as to whether or

        10       not any of that money had been recovered from the Iraqis?

        11       A.   I assume - no is the answer.

        12

        13       Q.   I take it you hadn't been told that some of that money

        14       had been recouped as at that time?

        15       A.   I did not know.  Didn't know.

        16

        17       Q.   Would it have made any difference to you?

        18       A.   No, probably - no, it wouldn't have.

        19

        20       Q.   It was a matter you were just happy to be rid of no

        21       matter what?

        22       A.   Well, I had held the view since a long time ago there

        23       was no money involved, and you will see in my statement

        24       I held that view for some years, and therefore I never

        25       considered that any money was ever going to be recouped

        26       from this matter.

        27

        28       Q.   And for that reason, then, you took the view that,

        29       even if money was able to be recouped, BHP wouldn't have an

        30       interest in it?

        31       A.   I had always assumed there was no money, and it never

        32       really had been a matter that had crossed my mind for some

        33       years.

        34

        35       Q.   I have taken you to paragraph 59 of your statement.

        36       I wonder if you would go to the paragraph just immediately

        37       before it, at the bottom of the previous page.  You are

        38       speaking of May 2000, and at the bottom of page 12 of your

        39       statement you say:

        40

        41            It is likely that I spoke with one or both

        42            of Mr Harley or Mr Lyons about the possible

        43            "debt" around this time, but have no

        44            specific recollection of doing so.

        45

        46       Why do you believe that it is likely that you spoke to

        47       Messrs Harley or Lyons?
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         1       A.   Well, I believe that in the note from Mr Davidson

         2       Kelly he suggested that Mr Lyons, Mr Stott and Mr Harley

         3       were the three people.  I'm pretty certain I didn't ask

         4       Mr Stott, but it is possible I would have asked either

         5       Mr Harley or Mr Lyons, but I don't specifically remember

         6       asking them.

         7

         8       Q.   I will take it a little further than that.

         9       Mr Harley's view - as you may have heard during the course

        10       of his evidence - was that he always regarded this as a

        11       gift, he never --

        12       A.   I haven't heard Mr Harley's evidence, I am sorry.

        13

        14       Q.   I am sorry, well, in your absence, then, Mr Harley

        15       said that from the moment the wheat left Australia, back in

        16       1996, he regarded it as a gift.  It seems likely, then,

        17       that if you spoke to him in May of 2000, that's what he

        18       would have told you.

        19       A.   I don't recall him telling me that.

        20

        21       Q.   But you can't recall whether you spoke to him or not?

        22       A.   No, I can't.

        23

        24       Q.   Do you say it is likely that you would have spoken to

        25       one or both of Mr Harley and Mr Lyons?

        26       A.   Possibly.

        27

        28       Q.   You don't know?

        29       A.   I can't remember, no.

        30

        31       Q.   When you assigned Mr Lyons the task, in effect, of

        32       dealing with Mr Davidson Kelly over this separation

        33       agreement, did you include in that assignment any

        34       instructions that he should research the history of this

        35       Grain Board receivable?

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   Did he ever report to you as to whether he had done

        39       so?

        40       A.   What, done the research on it?  No, he didn't.

        41

        42       Q.   I am reminded of one other matter that I should take

        43       you to, Mr Aiken, and that is page 22 of your statement,

        44       paragraph 88.

        45       A.   What paragraph?

        46

        47       Q.   88.
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         1       A.   Oh, yes, sorry.

         2

         3       Q.   This was Mr Davidson Kelly's letter to you of 21 May

         4       2001.  It is one of those occasions where he was telling

         5       you what had occurred.  He is writing to bring you up to

         6       date.  In the second paragraph he says:

         7

         8            The Loan, originally some US$ 5 million,

         9            was repayable plus compound interest at 10%

        10            at the end of January 2001.  We engaged the

        11            AWB to assist us in the recovery of the

        12            debt, and in January 2001 the Iraqis

        13            acknowledged the legitimacy of our claim.

        14

        15       And then further down:

        16

        17            Even if we get the 'Green light' on

        18            Saturday, I expect the actual repayment

        19            process to be complicated.  I suspect that

        20            the actual repayments will be linked to

        21            shipments of Australian wheat and therefore

        22            made over a period of time.  I expect that

        23            we will have to forgo our claim to compound

        24            interest, and I would not be surprised if

        25            repayment is linked in part to a commitment

        26            to undertake certain activities under the

        27            United Nations MOU process.

        28

        29       Now, it seems, then, that at least in May of 2001 you were

        30       told that the AWB was assisting Mr Davidson Kelly to

        31       recover the debt, and that Mr Davidson Kelly suspected that

        32       the repayments, plural, would be linked to shipments,

        33       plural, of Australian wheat.  Did that strike you as an odd

        34       thing at that time?

        35       A.   Well, as I said in my statement, when this letter was

        36       sent, I was actually in South Africa and I went on

        37       holidays.  I believe that it was then - another email came

        38       from Mr Davidson Kelly on the - I think it was 6 June, and,

        39       as I say in my statement, I don't believe I ever read this

        40       letter.  At the time I was very busy on a very major

        41       negotiation and I think I just read the email.  I don't

        42       believe I ever read this letter, I think I just filed it.

        43

        44       Q.   I think you say that this letter, although dated

        45       21 May 2001, ought to be read as though it were dated

        46       21 May 2002.

        47       A.   That's correct.
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         1

         2       Q.   Why do you say that?

         3       A.   Oh, that was picked up during the - this was picked up

         4       during the preparation for this inquiry.  The email that

         5       was sent to me on 21 May is 2002, and this was attached -

         6       we believe this was attached to that email.

         7

         8       Q.   So you received only an electronic copy of this, did

         9       you?

        10       A.   I believe so.

        11

        12       Q.   When did you become aware that you had this electronic

        13       copy?

        14       A.   Well, I believe that - I was on holidays and I came

        15       back to London and I believe that I got this either on 5 or

        16       6 June, and there was a second email which Mr Davidson

        17       Kelly pointed out that he hadn't received my usual cynical

        18       response, and I believe that I did send him a reply, but

        19       I don't believe I read the letter.  As I said, at the time

        20       I was in the middle of negotiations on a very large

        21       contract, and this was not - something I don't believe

        22       I read at the time.

        23

        24       Q.   So in that email of 5 June, when Mr Davidson Kelly

        25       said to you, "It occurred to me that as I haven't received

        26       a cynical response to this you may not have received the

        27       original", you were then of the belief that some document

        28       may have been sent to you which you hadn't received?

        29       A.   I don't remember.  I think I read the email and -

        30       I think I just read the email and sent a quick reply back

        31       and that was about the sum of the matter.

        32

        33       Q.   But you had no interest in the matter then?

        34       A.   No, I didn't at all.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Gleeson?

        39

        40       MR GLEESON:   No questions, Commissioner.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   I have a few, if I may, sir.

        45

        46

        47
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         1       <EXAMINATION BY MR JUDD:

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Q.   Mr Aiken, I appear on behalf of AWB and

         4       AWBI.  I just wanted to take up a couple of matters with

         5       you, if I may very briefly.  You have given evidence in

         6       your statement, in answer to some questions by my friend,

         7       concerning the negotiations you had with Mr Davidson Kelly

         8       in relation to the agreement with him about the recovery of

         9       this debt - do you recall those matters?

        10       A.   Is this in May 2000 you are referring to?

        11

        12       Q.   Yes.

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Now, I understand from your statement that the

        16       agreement with Mr Davidson Kelly was settled - as I think

        17       you described it - on about 13 September?

        18       A.   Correct.

        19

        20       Q.   Did you understand that agreement to be one where BHP

        21       Petroleum had appointed the Tigris Petroleum Corporation as

        22       BHP's agent to achieve the recovery of the outstanding

        23       obligation?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   Can you assist the Commission by providing any

        27       explanation for such a position if it were advanced by

        28       another as to the real nature of the agreement between

        29       Mr Davidson Kelly and BHP?

        30       A.   Sorry, I don't understand the question.

        31

        32       Q.   Perhaps I can go about this a different way.  Could we

        33       have exhibit 220, which is AWB.0102.0185.  I will go

        34       directly to the point, Mr Aiken.  You will see in a moment

        35       a letter dated 28 September, so a few weeks after the

        36       settlement of the agreement, by Mr Davidson Kelly,

        37       addressed to Mr Stott.  In the third paragraph you will see

        38       Mr Davidson Kelly describing in his words the relationship

        39       between Tigris and BHP.

        40       A.   Right.

        41

        42       Q.   Have you seen this letter before?

        43       A.   No, I haven't.

        44

        45       Q.   Does that accurately describe the true relationship

        46       between Tigris Petroleum and BHP Petroleum?

        47       A.   Well, that's different wording to the agreement
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         1       between BHP and Tigris, but I am not an expert in these

         2       matters, so I couldn't really - I don't know.

         3

         4       Q.   Do you accept that Tigris Petroleum was acting as the

         5       agent for BHP Petroleum to recover this debt?

         6       A.   Well, I don't believe we gave it - Tigris Petroleum

         7       that authority, no.

         8

         9       Q.   So you would reject that as a correct description of

        10       the relationship?

        11       A.   Yes, I would.

        12

        13       Q.   Now, you also said in your response to questions by

        14       my friend in relation to the negotiation with

        15       Mr Davidson Kelly and the significance of the debt recovery

        16       component of it words to this effect, and this is at pages

        17       4295 and 4296, firstly, that you hadn't given the debt any

        18       consideration; do you recall saying that?

        19       A.   Sorry, when I was answering before?

        20

        21       Q.   Yes.

        22       A.   Correct, yes.

        23

        24       Q.   And on another occasion I think you said, in

        25       connection with those negotiations, that you didn't focus

        26       on it at all?

        27       A.   Correct.

        28

        29       Q.   And on a later occasion you said, as I recall, that

        30       you always assumed there would be no money?

        31       A.   Correct.

        32

        33       Q.   Can I just take you to a couple of passages from your

        34       own material.  The first is at paragraph 83, page 20.  This

        35       is WST.0024.0021.  This appears to be a file note of yours,

        36       "Tigris - more into Iraq" - could that be move into Iraq,

        37       or --

        38       A.   No, Mr Davidson Kelly told me he had two companies.

        39       One was called Mena and one was called Tigris, and Tigris

        40       was about Iraq, and Mena was about other countries.

        41

        42       Q.   Then you have the words "collect our money".

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   In quotes.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   Q.   In quotes, yes.

        47       A.   I believe Mr Davidson Kelly said to me "Collect our
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         1       money, technical studies in north fields" and I just put it

         2       down as he said it.

         3

         4       Q.   But that would suggest, wouldn't it, that, at the very

         5       least, this was a matter about which he considered you

         6       would be concerned?

         7       A.   I think he was - I don't recall specifically what he

         8       was on about at the time, I think he was just telling me

         9       and I was just listening.

        10

        11       Q.   So this was a jotting of yours that was entirely

        12       inconsequential to the conversation you were having with

        13       Mr Kelly; is that what you were saying?

        14       A.   I believe so, yes.

        15

        16       Q.   So of absolutely no importance to you?

        17       A.   I don't think so, no.

        18

        19       Q.   Can I take you down to paragraph 85.  This is a draft

        20       response, as I understand it, which you prepared.  Can you

        21       perhaps describe the circumstances in which these

        22       particular words that are set out in quotes came to be

        23       recorded by you?

        24       A.   Yes.  I had received an invoice from Mr Davidson Kelly

        25       which I was very annoyed about.  I had actually then sent

        26       him a comment that I was annoyed about the invoice - it was

        27       nothing to do with this matter; it was about some

        28       consultancy arrangements.  He also mentioned something

        29       about Iraq, and I was very frustrated and I said "Lack of

        30       interest in Iraq", and "except for getting paid" I believe

        31       was a cynical reference to something that he knew I had no

        32       interest in and thought there was no value.

        33

        34       Q.   Except for getting paid?

        35       A.   Well, I believe that comment was a cynical comment

        36       about getting paid, because I didn't expect to ever see

        37       anything.

        38

        39       Q.   So once again this shouldn't convey, you would say,

        40       any real interest you had in the debt recovery?

        41       A.   That's correct.

        42

        43       Q.   And it shouldn't be taken to convey any anticipation

        44       on your part of the likelihood of being paid?

        45       A.   That's correct.

        46

        47       Q.   If we can go across to paragraph 87 - this is at
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         1       WST.0024.0022 - this is an email from Mr Davidson Kelly to

         2       you, in which he opens with the words "A long time no see,

         3       but you will be glad to know that I am working hard on your

         4       account as always!"  Then he sets out, as I would read it,

         5       Mr Aiken, what it is he is working hard on:

         6

         7            Things are hotting up in relation to the

         8            possible repayment of the Iraqi loan...

         9

        10       Did you understand that to refer to the Iraqi loan or debt

        11       in relation to the shipment of wheat that had been the

        12       subject of negotiation and discussion with Mr Davidson

        13       Kelly?

        14       A.   Do you mean the first paragraph or the second

        15       sentence, sorry?

        16

        17       Q.   The first line of the second paragraph?

        18       A.   I assume it was, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   But, again, you would say that that was not a matter

        21       of any interest to you, not a matter that you focused on at

        22       all?

        23       A.   Well, I think the next paragraph he says "Chance but a

        24       slim one", which was always my view that there wasn't any

        25       recovery.

        26

        27       Q.   Could we go next to paragraph 94, where you set out in

        28       full your response to an email from Mr Davidson Kelly of

        29       6 June 2002:

        30

        31            Norman, glad to hear you are still alive.

        32            As you can imagine I am not holding my

        33            breath that this debt will roll in the door

        34            but do appreciate your efforts to recover.

        35

        36       Do you still maintain that you gave this debt no

        37       consideration?

        38       A.   I do.  I think the "appreciate your efforts" was just

        39       a friendly gesture.

        40

        41       Q.   And you didn't focus on it at all?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   And you assumed always that it would not be recovered?

        45       A.   Correct.

        46

        47       Q.   You negotiated a variation to the agreement with



            .9/3/06 (43)               4305     P S AIKEN (Mr Judd)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       Mr Davidson Kelly in July of 2004.  You describe that in

         2       paragraph 104?

         3       A.   Yes, well, I didn't negotiate it, it was negotiated by

         4       one of my people.

         5

         6       Q.   By Mr Worthington?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   But you were aware of it, weren't you?

        10       A.   Yes, I was.

        11

        12       Q.   As part of that negotiation, BHPP gave up its interest

        13       in the debt recovery?

        14       A.   Correct.

        15

        16       Q.   At that time did anyone inquire of Mr Davidson Kelly

        17       what the status of his debt recovery activities was?

        18       A.   I don't know.

        19

        20       Q.   Have you asked Mr Worthington whether he did so, or

        21       did you?

        22       A.   Not that I recollect.

        23

        24       Q.   But you certainly made no inquiries?

        25       A.   Not that I'm aware of.

        26

        27       Q.   Have you made inquiries of Mr Davidson Kelly since

        28       then as to whether or not he was successful in recovering

        29       any part of this debt?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   You haven't?

        33       A.   Well, there is the meeting of 20 December, but that

        34       was when he contacted me.

        35

        36       Q.   And on that occasion did you inquire of him whether he

        37       had been successful in recovering any part of this debt?

        38       A.   Sorry, on 20 December?

        39

        40       Q.   Yes.

        41       A.   Well, I don't recall there being discussions.

        42

        43       Q.   Are you now aware that Mr Davidson Kelly was

        44       successful in recovering the debt?

        45       A.   Well, from what I have read recently, I gather that he

        46       had recovered some money.

        47
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         1       Q.   And have you taken the matter up again with

         2       Mr Davidson Kelly --

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       Q.   -- as to ask him how that was and why it was you were

         6       not kept informed?

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm not quite sure who recovered the

         9       debt, Mr Judd.

        10

        11       MR JUDD:   There is a causation chain there, sir.

        12

        13       Q.   Perhaps the question is formulated in the wrong way.

        14       Did you make any inquiries of Mr Davidson Kelly as to

        15       whether or not he had received any value for the debt?

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   Thank you.

        19

        20       MR ALLEN:   Mr Commissioner, could I ask a few questions?

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        23

        24       <EXAMINATION BY MR ALLEN:

        25

        26       MR ALLEN:   Q.   I will be very brief, Mr Aiken.  Have you

        27       read the statement of Mr Harley?

        28       A.   No, I haven't.

        29

        30       Q.   It probably doesn't matter.  I can inform you that in

        31       his statement on numerous occasions he explains having not

        32       read emails and not read chains of emails which were

        33       addressed to him or copied to him; do you follow?

        34       A.   (Witness nods).

        35

        36       Q.   And you have given evidence yourself on occasions not

        37       having read emails or read letters that were addressed to

        38       you, haven't you; correct?

        39       A.   Correct.

        40

        41       Q.   In terms of corporate governance and the way you

        42       performed your duties, given how busy you were and the

        43       level of your responsibilities, would you regard that as a

        44       cause or source of ridicule, criticism of you, for not

        45       having read every email that was addressed to you?

        46       A.   I receive somewhere between 80 and 100 emails a day.

        47       I try to read the ones that I think are significant or more
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         1       valuable, but I don't think I would claim to read every one

         2       thoroughly.

         3

         4       Q.   From a corporate governance point of view, would you

         5       be particularly critical, given your long experience in

         6       business and administration of large companies, of

         7       Mr Harley for not having read chains of emails with bodies

         8       such as the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, and

         9       the like, if he were very busy, and the like?

        10       A.   Well, I can't comment on behalf of Mr Harley.

        11

        12       Q.   I am asking you - you have long experience in

        13       business, haven't you?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Yes.  From your experience, would you be critical of

        17       someone in Mr Harley's position for having failed to read

        18       long chains of emails?

        19       A.   No, I wouldn't.

        20

        21       Q.   And would you be critical of someone like Mr Harley

        22       for not being able to recall having read letters and faxes

        23       that were addressed to him?

        24       A.   No, I wouldn't.

        25

        26       Q.   Even important letters and faxes from bodies like the

        27       Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade?

        28       A.   Well, I can't comment, because, you know, I just - I

        29       just answered you and said I wouldn't be critical.

        30

        31       Q.   And insofar as you would not be critical of him, why

        32       would that be?

        33       A.   Well, I can only comment from my own point of view.

        34

        35       Q.   Yes.

        36       A.   I receive 80 to 100 emails a day.  They come from all

        37       around the world at all times of the day, and I can't be

        38       specifically correct in saying I read everything and every

        39       detail.

        40

        41       Q.   All right.  Let's move on to another question of

        42       diligence or corporate governance.  You were informed by

        43       Mr Davidson Kelly that BHP may have been entitled to

        44       recover some $5m as a result of wheat that had been

        45       delivered a few years earlier, weren't you?

        46       A.   In 2000?

        47
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         1       Q.   Yes.

         2       A.   That's correct.

         3

         4       Q.   Wheat that had been delivered four years earlier?

         5       A.   Correct.

         6

         7       Q.   $5m, even to BHP, is a lot of money, isn't it?

         8       A.   Well, it is, but, as I said, I was told that the money

         9       had been written off.  I wasn't involved.  I don't know the

        10       detail.

        11

        12       Q.   That's what I am coming to.  You made a phone call to

        13       someone in accounts, did you?

        14       A.   I spoke to somebody in our finance department.

        15

        16       Q.   They told you "nothing on the books"?

        17       A.   Correct.

        18

        19       Q.   You left it at that?

        20       A.   Correct.

        21

        22       Q.   Did you think that was appropriate?

        23       A.   Yes, I do.

        24

        25       Q.   Would you be wounded if anyone scorned or mocked you

        26       for having taken an approach like that - that is, to rely

        27       on someone in responsibility to convey information to you?

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   I reject the question.  If you put that

        30       in a more civil way, I will allow it.

        31

        32       MR ALLEN:   Yes, I accept that, sir.  I am sorry.  I am

        33       regretful I put it that way, sir.  I accept that.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   There is a standard of behaviour,

        36       I think, which ought to be adhered to.

        37

        38       MR ALLEN:   I apologise, sir.  My client was called,

        39       I think, an absolute fool or a complete fool at one stage,

        40       when he gave evidence.  Anyway, I won't debate that with

        41       you.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   It was a complete fool, Mr Allen.

        44

        45       MR ALLEN:   A complete fool.  Well, people may laugh, but

        46       in my 21 years I have never heard a barrister get away with

        47       a proposition like that.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   I never heard an objection at the time.

         3

         4       MR ALLEN:   Well, there was no-one here to object for

         5       Mr Lindberg.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Let's get on, please.

         8

         9       MR ALLEN:   Q.   In any event, would you consider that you

        10       ought to be criticised, from a corporate governance or

        11       management point of view, for not having pursued the

        12       question of whether or not your company was owed $5m,

        13       beyond a phone call to somebody in accounts?

        14       A.   No.

        15

        16       Q.   Thank you.  Let's move on to another question of

        17       corporate governance.  You signed the assignment deed

        18       because Mr Lyons put it forward for signature; is that

        19       right?

        20       A.   Correct.

        21

        22       Q.   Yes.  Did you direct him to carry out inquiries and

        23       investigation and to report back to you as to the basis of

        24       the matters set out in the deed of assignment, particularly

        25       the debt in relation to the wheat?

        26       A.   Mr Lyons was an experienced counsel.  He had worked

        27       for BHP Petroleum for some time.  He was aware of the

        28       issues and I assumed that he would have carried out

        29       whatever inquiries were appropriate.

        30

        31       Q.   Thank you for that.  Do you think that was an

        32       appropriate assumption to make?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you sign that document on the basis of his advice

        36       to you?

        37       A.   Yes, I did - sorry, the agreement, yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Yes.  And, as has just been pointed out, some years

        40       later you signed a variation of the agreement, didn't you?

        41       A.   I'm not quite sure what you mean by that.

        42

        43       Q.   Well, there was a subsequent variation whereby BHP

        44       effectively abandoned any interest it may have had in the

        45       debt?

        46       A.   I didn't sign that agreement.

        47
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         1       Q.   You didn't - you were aware of it?

         2       A.   Yes, I was.

         3

         4       Q.   Did you approve it?

         5       A.   Yes, I did.

         6

         7       Q.   And why was that - on what basis did you approve it?

         8       A.   Well, as I have said in my statement, at that stage

         9       I had always thought there was no moneys from this matter

        10       and therefore I was quite happy to take it out of the new

        11       agreement.

        12

        13       Q.   And what was the basis of your belief that there was

        14       no moneys for this matter?  What investigations or

        15       inquiries did you cause to be carried out?

        16       A.   I didn't carry out any myself.  It was carried out by

        17       some other people, I suppose.

        18

        19       Q.   Who?

        20       A.   Pardon?

        21

        22       Q.   Who?

        23       A.   Well, I assume the people who did the work on that

        24       agreement.

        25

        26       Q.   What was the basis of that assumption?

        27       A.   Pardon?

        28

        29       Q.   What was the basis of that assumption?

        30       A.   You know, we have a lot of people who work on lots of

        31       documents.  I assume that they have done the thorough work

        32       on them.

        33

        34       Q.   Because, in your position, you have to assume that

        35       people who work for you are giving you proper advice and

        36       acting properly, don't you?

        37       A.   That's correct.

        38

        39       Q.   Unless there is some reason, obvious reason, why you

        40       should doubt what they are doing and the advice they are

        41       giving you?

        42       A.   That's correct.

        43

        44       MR ALLEN:   Yes, thank you.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else wish to ask this

        47       witness any questions?  Mr Lacava?
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         1

         2       MR LACAVA:   I will reserve my position until tomorrow

         3       morning, I think.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I am not disposed to keep this

         6       witness here beyond tomorrow morning.  It appears to me he

         7       had no conversation, so far as the evidence goes, with

         8       anyone at AWB.  He had no conversations with anyone at DFAT

         9       of any relevance.  So unless there is something else you

        10       can point to --

        11

        12       MR LACAVA:   I had understood you had allowed me to

        13       consider my position overnight.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I had.  I am just wondering what

        16       it is that you have to consider.  He has given evidence he

        17       had no conversation with Mr Stott.

        18

        19       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner --

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Have you not read the statement?

        22

        23       MR LACAVA:   I have not read it in full.  I have

        24       concentrated on Mr Harley's 267 pages.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  All right.  Mr Aiken, would

        27       you mind returning at 10 o'clock tomorrow morning for a

        28       brief time.

        29

        30       THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  Is there anybody else apart

        33       from Mr Lacava who wishes to examine this witness?

        34

        35       MR FORREST:   I think I had indicated a little earlier,

        36       Commissioner, that I had not yet concluded my position on

        37       that.  I have read all of Mr Harley's statement, I have

        38       read some of his annexures.  I have read this witness's

        39       statement.  I do not anticipate asking him any questions,

        40       but I wish to reserve --

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will reserve your right as well until

        43       10am tomorrow morning.

        44

        45       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, could I just remind you and my

        46       learned friend Mr Gleeson that part of my consideration

        47       will be whether or not we - I would like to take into
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         1       account page 91 of the document, if that could be given

         2       some urgent consideration, so that I don't have to ask for

         3       further time tomorrow morning.

         4

         5       MR GLEESON:   I can indicate, Commissioner, that I expect

         6       that there won't be a claim for confidentiality pressed

         7       over page 91.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you make that available, please,

        10       to Mr Lacava?

        11

        12       MR GLEESON:   I will make it available as soon as that is

        13       resolved.  Thank you, Commissioner.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Aiken.

        16

        17       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Commissioner, that completes the evidence we

        20       have available to call this afternoon.  I understand that

        21       we are to receive statements from Mr Lyons and

        22       Mr Worthington.  I don't know if they have been received

        23       whilst we have been in session today.

        24

        25       MR GLEESON:   Commissioner, I am told by my instructing

        26       solicitors that they are expected by the end of today and

        27       I am pressing for them to be produced as soon as we can.

        28       We are rolling through the witnesses slightly quicker than

        29       we are able to consume the pieces of paper, but they will

        30       be here as soon as we can tonight.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   That's the best we can do, Mr Commissioner.

        33       Could we adjourn until 10 o'clock tomorrow morning?

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  We will adjourn until 10am

        36       tomorrow morning.

        37

        38       AT 4.30PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED

        39       TO FRIDAY, 10 MARCH 2006 AT 10AM

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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